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CAUTIONARY NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (“Quarterly Report”) of Wheels Up Experience Inc. (“Wheels Up”, “we”, “us”, “our” or the “Company”), contains
certain “forward-looking statements” within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the “Securities Act”), and Section 21E of
the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”). Forward-looking statements provide current expectations of future circumstances or
events based on certain assumptions and include any statement, projection or forecast that does not directly relate to any historical or current fact. Forward-
looking statements are subject to known and unknown risks, uncertainties, assumptions and other important factors, many of which are outside of the control of
Wheels Up, that could cause actual results to differ materially from the results discussed in the forward-looking statements. These forward-looking statements
include, but are not limited to, statements regarding: (i) Wheels Up’s growth plans, the size, demand, competition in and growth potential of the markets for
Wheels Up’s service offerings and the degree of market adoption of Wheels Up’s membership program, charter offerings and any future services it may offer;
(ii) the potential impact of Wheels Up’s cost reduction and operational efficiency and productivity initiatives on its business and results of operations, including
timing, magnitude and possible effects on liquidity levels and working capital; (iii) Wheels Up’s fleet modernization strategy, its ability to execute such
strategy on the timeline that it currently anticipates and the expected commercial, financial and operational impacts to Wheels Up, including due to changes in
the market for purchases and sales of aircraft; (iv) Wheels Up’s liquidity and future cash flows, certain restrictions related to its indebtedness obligations and its
ability to perform under its contractual and indebtedness obligations; (v) Wheels Up’s ability to achieve its financial goals in the future on the most recent
schedule that it has announced; (vi) the potential impacts or benefits from pursuing strategic actions involving Wheels Up or its subsidiaries or affiliates,
including, among others, acquisitions and divestitures, new debt or equity financings, refinancings of existing indebtedness, stock repurchases and commercial
partnerships or arrangements; and (vii) the impacts of general economic and geopolitical conditions on Wheels Up’s business and the aviation industry,
including due to, among others, fluctuations in interest rates, inflation, foreign currencies, taxes, tariffs and trade policies, government shutdowns or funding
changes, and consumer and business spending decisions. The words “anticipate,” “believe,” “can,” “continue,” “could,” “estimate,” “expect,” “future,”
“intend,” “may,” “might,” “plan,” “possible,” “potential,” “predict,” “project,” “should,” “strive,” “would” and similar expressions may identify forward-
looking statements, but the absence of these words does not mean that statement is not forward-looking. We have identified certain known material risk factors
applicable to Wheels Up in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2024 (“Annual Report”) under Part I, Item 1A “Risk Factors,”
as well as in Part I, Item 2 “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations,” Part II, Item 1A “Risk Factors” and
elsewhere in this Quarterly Report. It is not always possible for us to predict how new risks and uncertainties that arise from time to time may affect us. You are
cautioned not to place undue reliance upon any forward-looking statements, which speak only as of the date made. Except as required by law, we do not intend
to update any of these forward-looking statements after the date of this Quarterly Report.



PART I. FINANCIAL INFORMATION

ITEM 1. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

WHEELS UP EXPERIENCE INC.
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

(Unaudited, in thousands, except share data)
September 30, 2025 December 31, 2024

ASSETS
Current assets:

Cash and cash equivalents $ 125,327  $ 216,426 
Accounts receivable, net 32,389  32,316 
Parts and supplies inventories 9,144  12,177 
Aircraft held for sale 41,227  35,663 
Prepaid expenses 25,163  23,546 
Other current assets 15,026  11,941 

Total current assets 248,276  332,069 
Property and equipment, net 305,416  348,339 
Operating lease right-of-use assets 27,999  56,911 
Goodwill 209,930  217,045 
Intangible assets, net 80,063  96,904 
Restricted cash 30,451  30,042 
Other non-current assets 70,868  76,701 

Total assets $ 973,003  $ 1,158,011 

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
Current liabilities:

Current maturities of long-term debt $ 30,342  $ 31,748 
Accounts payable 30,858  29,977 
Accrued expenses 100,695  89,484 
Deferred revenue, current 711,191  749,432 
Other current liabilities 14,435  16,643 

Total current liabilities 887,521  917,284 
Long-term debt, net 393,571  376,308 
Operating lease liabilities, non-current 46,929  50,810 
Other non-current liabilities 19,527  9,837 

Total liabilities 1,347,548  1,354,239 

Commitments and contingencies (Note 13)

Mezzanine equity:
Executive performance award —  5,881 
Total mezzanine equity —  5,881 

Equity:
Common Stock, $0.0001par value; 1,500,000,000 authorized; 721,613,576 and 698,342,097 issued and
720,346,459 and 697,902,646 shares outstanding as of September 30, 2025 and December 31, 2024, respectively 72  70 
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Additional paid-in capital 2,008,512  1,921,581 
Accumulated deficit (2,368,237) (2,102,895)
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (5,598) (12,662)
Treasury stock, at cost, 1,267,117 and 439,451 shares, respectively (9,294) (8,203)

Total Wheels Up Experience Inc. stockholders’ equity (374,545) (202,109)
Non-controlling interests —  — 

Total equity (374,545) (202,109)
Total liabilities and equity $ 973,003  $ 1,158,011 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed consolidated financial statements.



WHEELS UP EXPERIENCE INC.
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

(Unaudited, in thousands, except share and per share data)
Three Months Ended September 30, Nine Months Ended September 30,

2025 2024 2025 2024

Revenue $ 185,486  $ 193,903  $ 552,653  $ 587,289 

Costs and expenses:
Cost of revenue (exclusive of items shown separately below) 172,878  166,859  505,257  556,809 
Technology and development 10,170  9,594  30,052  31,204 
Sales and marketing 22,084  20,029  68,630  62,946 
General and administrative 31,982  27,058  119,031  99,244 
Depreciation and amortization 13,926  12,484  47,626  43,472 
Gain on sale of aircraft (3,737) (190) (12,491) (2,680)
(Gain) loss on disposal of assets, net (480) (70) (3,749) 1,757 

Total costs and expenses 246,823  235,764  754,356  792,752 

Loss from operations (61,337) (41,861) (201,703) (205,463)

Other income (expense)
Gain on divestiture 1,833  —  1,833  3,403 
Loss on extinguishment of debt (19) (289) (79) (2,800)
Change in fair value of warrant liability —  107  —  9 
Interest income 631  907  2,615  1,248 
Interest expense (23,510) (16,041) (65,474) (47,263)
Other income (expense), net 4  (149) (165) (499)

Total other income (expense) (21,061) (15,465) (61,270) (45,902)

Loss before income taxes (82,398) (57,326) (262,973) (251,365)

Income tax expense (1,332) (405) (2,369) (732)

Net loss (83,730) (57,731) (265,342) (252,097)
Less: Net loss attributable to non-controlling interests —  —  —  — 

Net loss attributable to Wheels Up Experience Inc. $ (83,730) $ (57,731) $ (265,342) $ (252,097)

Net loss per share of Class A common stock:
Basic and diluted $ (0.12) $ (0.08) $ (0.38) $ (0.36)

Weighted-average shares of Class A common stock outstanding:
Basic and diluted 703,813,424 697,721,699 700,889,734 697,575,821

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed consolidated financial statements.
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WHEELS UP EXPERIENCE INC.
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE LOSS

(Unaudited, in thousands)
Three Months Ended September 30, Nine Months Ended September 30,

2025 2024 2025 2024

Net loss $ (83,730) $ (57,731) $ (265,342) $ (252,097)
Other comprehensive income (loss):

Foreign currency translation adjustments (2,514) 6,807  7,064  5,167 
Comprehensive loss (86,244) (50,924) (258,278) (246,930)

Less: Comprehensive loss attributable to non-controlling interests —  —  —  — 

Comprehensive loss attributable to Wheels Up Experience Inc. $ (86,244) $ (50,924) $ (258,278) $ (246,930)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed consolidated financial statements.
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WHEELS UP EXPERIENCE INC.
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF EQUITY

(Unaudited, in thousands, except share data)
Common Stock Treasury Stock

Shares Amount

Additional
paid-in
capital

Accumulated
deficit

Accumulated
other

comprehensive
loss Shares Amount

Non-
controlling

interests Total

Balance at December 31, 2024 698,342,097  $ 70  $ 1,921,581  $ (2,102,895) $ (12,662) 439,451  $ (8,203) $ —  $ (202,109)

Equity-based compensation —  —  10,319  —  —  —  —  —  10,319 
Shares withheld for employee taxes on vested equity
awards —  —  —  —  —  88,935  (109) —  (109)
Issuance of Common Stock upon settlement of restricted
stock units 1,051,121  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  — 
Net loss —  —  —  (99,313) —  —  —  —  (99,313)
Other comprehensive income (loss) —  —  —  —  3,106  —  —  —  3,106 

Balance at March 31, 2025 699,393,218  $ 70  $ 1,931,900  $ (2,202,208) $ (9,556) 528,386  $ (8,312) $ —  $ (288,106)

Equity-based compensation —  —  6,268  —  —  —  —  —  6,268 
Reclassification of equity awards —  —  10,250  —  —  —  —  —  10,250 
Shares withheld for employee taxes on vested equity
awards —  —  —  —  —  56,545  (86) —  (86)
Repurchase of Common Stock —  —  —  —  —  225,378  (250) —  (250)
Issuance of Common Stock upon settlement of restricted
stock units 410,727  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  — 
Net loss —  —  —  (82,299) —  —  —  —  (82,299)
Other comprehensive income (loss) —  —  —  —  6,472  —  —  —  6,472 

Balance at June 30, 2025 699,803,945  $ 70  $ 1,948,418  $ (2,284,507) $ (3,084) 810,309  $ (8,648) $ —  $ (347,751)

Equity-based compensation —  —  12,499  —  —  — —  —  12,499 
Issuance of Common Stock (ATM Program) 21,157,534  2  47,595  —  —  — —  —  47,597 
Shares withheld for employee taxes on vested equity
awards —  —  —  —  —  115,642 (268) —  (268)
Repurchase of Common Stock —  —  —  —  —  341,166 (378) —  (378)
Issuance of Common Stock upon settlement of restricted
stock units 652,097  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  — 
Net loss —  —  —  (83,730) —  — —  —  (83,730)
Other comprehensive income (loss) —  —  —  —  (2,514) —  —  —  (2,514)

Balance at September 30, 2025 721,613,576  $ 72  $ 2,008,512  $ (2,368,237) $ (5,598) 1,267,117  $ (9,294) $ —  $ (374,545)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed consolidated financial statements.
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WHEELS UP EXPERIENCE INC.
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF EQUITY

(Unaudited, in thousands, except share data)
Common Stock Treasury Stock

(in thousands) Shares Amount
Additional

paid-in capital
Accumulated

deficit

Accumulated
other comprehensive

loss Shares Amount

Non-
controlling

interests Total

Balance at December 31, 2023 697,131,838  $ 70  $ 1,879,009  $ (1,763,260) $ (10,704) 275,707  $ (7,718) $ —  $ 97,397 

Equity-based compensation —  —  2,812  —  —  —  —  —  2,812 
Shares withheld for employee taxes on vested equity

awards —  —  —  —  —  92,764  (338) —  (338)
Issuance of Common Stock upon settlement of restricted

stock units 558,125  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  — 
Net loss —  —  —  (97,393) —  —  —  —  (97,393)
Other comprehensive income (loss) —  —  —  —  (1,542) —  —  —  (1,542)

Balance at March 31, 2024 697,689,963  $ 70  $ 1,881,821  $ (1,860,653) $ (12,246) 368,471  $ (8,056) $ —  $ 936 

Equity-based compensation —  —  5,332  —  —  —  —  —  5,332 
Reclassification of equity awards —  —  18,718  —  —  —  —  —  18,718 
Shares withheld for employee taxes on vested equity
awards —  —  —  —  —  24,747  (67) —  (67)
Issuance of Common Stock upon settlement of restricted
stock units 367,109  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  — 
Net loss —  —  —  (96,973) —  —  —  —  (96,973)
Other comprehensive income (loss) —  —  —  —  (98) —  —  $ —  (98)

Balance at June 30, 2024 698,057,072  $ 70  $ 1,905,871  $ (1,957,626) $ (12,344) 393,218  $ (8,123) $ —  $ (72,152)

Equity-based compensation —  —  5,491  —  —  —  —  —  5,491 
Change in non-controlling interests allocation —  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  — 
Issuance of Common Stock and Deferred Shares in
connection with debt issuance —  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  — 
Shares withheld for employee taxes on vested equity
awards —  —  —  —  —  46,233  (81) —  (81)
Issuance of Common Stock upon settlement of restricted
stock units 194,043  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  — 
Net loss —  —  —  (57,731) —  —  —  —  (57,731)
Other comprehensive income (loss) —  —  —  —  6,807  —  —  —  6,807 

Balance at September 30, 2024 698,251,115  $ 70  $ 1,911,362  $ (2,015,357) $ (5,537) 439,451  $ (8,204) $ —  $ (117,666)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed consolidated financial statements.
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WHEELS UP EXPERIENCE INC.
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(Unaudited, in thousands)
Nine Months Ended September 30,

2025 2024
Cash flows from operating activities
Net loss $ (265,342) $ (252,097)
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities:

Depreciation and amortization 47,626  43,472 
Equity-based compensation 33,455  33,364 
Payment in kind interest 40,289  31,259 
Amortization (accretion) of deferred financing costs and debt discount 10,698  (1,022)
Gain on sale of aircraft held for sale (14,854) (2,680)
(Gain) loss on disposal of assets, net (3,076) 1,757 
Impairment of right-of-use assets 20,218  — 
Gain on divestiture (1,833) (3,403)
Other 3,131  3,796 

Changes in assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable (5,481) 4,867 
Parts and supplies inventories (730) 1,453 
Prepaid expenses 1,314  24,640 
Other non-current assets 7,173  17,910 
Accounts payable 1,103  1,913 
Accrued expenses 9,771  (8,562)
Deferred revenue (40,634) (12,813)
Other assets and liabilities 9,246  332 

Net cash used in operating activities (147,926) (115,814)

Cash flows from investing activities:
Purchases of property and equipment (53,740) (14,716)
Capitalized software development costs (9,144) (11,452)
Proceeds from sale of divested business, net 20,689  6,803 
Proceeds from sale of aircraft held for sale, net 84,429  47,631 
Other 1,150  (2,208)

Net cash provided by investing activities 43,384  26,058 

Cash flows from financing activities:
Purchase of shares for treasury (1,090) (486)
Proceeds from sales of shares of Common Stock 47,597  — 
Proceeds from long-term debt 33,906  — 
Repayments of long-term debt (68,997) (52,475)
Payment of debt issuance costs (40) — 

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities 11,376  (52,961)

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash 2,476  (1,274)

Net decrease in cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash (90,690) (143,991)
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash, beginning of period 246,468  292,825 

Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash, end of period $ 155,778  $ 148,834 

Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:
Cash paid for interest $ 14,629  $ 18,230 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed consolidated financial statements.
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WHEELS UP EXPERIENCE INC.
NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Unaudited)

1. SUMMARY OF BUSINESS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Wheels Up Experience Inc. (“Wheels Up”, or “we”, “us”, “our” or the “Company”) is a leading provider of on-demand private aviation in the United
States (“U.S.”) and one of the largest companies in the industry.

Basis of Presentation and Principles of Consolidation

The condensed consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes have been prepared in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting
principles (“GAAP”) for interim financial reporting, the instructions to Form 10-Q and Article 10 of Regulation S-X. Accordingly, they do not include all of the
financial information and footnotes required by GAAP for annual financial statements. As a result, this Quarterly Report on Form  10-Q (this “Quarterly
Report”) should be read in conjunction with the audited consolidated financial statements and related notes included in the Company’s Annual Report on Form
10-K for the fiscal year ended December  31, 2024, filed with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission on March  11,  2025. In the opinion of the
Company’s management, the condensed consolidated financial statements in this Quarterly Report include all adjustments necessary for the fair presentation of
the Company’s balance sheet as of September 30, 2025 and its results of operations, including its comprehensive loss and stockholders' equity for the three and
nine months ended September  30, 2025 and 2024. All adjustments are of a normal recurring nature. The results for the three and nine months ended
September 30, 2025 are not necessarily indicative of the results to be expected for any subsequent period or for the fiscal year ending December 31, 2025.

The condensed consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its subsidiaries, after elimination of intercompany transactions
and accounts. The Company consolidates Wheels Up MIP LLC (“MIP LLC”) and records the profits interests units in Wheels Up Partners Holdings LLC, our
indirect subsidiary (“WUP”), held by MIP LLC as non-controlling interests. The Company serves as the sole managing member of MIP LLC, but does not own
any profits interests units in WUP (see Note 12).

Use of Estimates

Preparing the condensed consolidated financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect
reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the condensed consolidated financial statements and
the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates due to risks and uncertainties. The
most significant estimates include, but are not limited to, the useful lives and residual values of purchased aircraft, sales and use tax, the determination of the
allowance for credit losses, reserve for excess and obsolete inventory, impairment assessments, the determination of the valuation allowance for deferred tax
assets and the incremental borrowing rate for leases.

Segment Reporting

We identify operating segments as components of Wheels Up for which discrete financial information is available and is regularly reviewed by the chief
operating decision maker (“CODM”), or decision-making group, in making decisions regarding resource allocation and performance assessment.

The Company’s CODM is its Chief Executive Officer, who reviews financial information presented on a consolidated basis. The Company operates as one
operating segment. The Company’s CODM evaluates the Company’s financial information and resources and assesses the performance of these resources on a
consolidated basis. The measure of segment profit or loss for the Company's single segment is Net income (loss), which can be found in the condensed
consolidated statement of operations. There is no expense or asset information that is supplemental to those disclosed in the consolidated financial statements
that is regularly provided to the CODM.
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Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In December 2023, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) No. 2023-09, Income Taxes (Topic
740): Improvements to Income Tax Disclosures (“ASU 2023-09”). The amendments in ASU 2023-09 aim to enhance the transparency and decision usefulness
of income tax disclosures. ASU 2023-09 will be effective for the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ending December 31, 2025, with early
adoption permitted. The Company is currently evaluating the impact of this update on its consolidated financial statements.

In November 2024, the FASB issued ASU No. 2024-03, Disaggregation of Income Statement Expenses (“ASU 2024-03”). The amendments in ASU 2024-
03 aim to improve the decision usefulness of expense information on public business entities’ income statements through the disaggregation of relevant
expense captions in the notes to the financial statements. ASU 2024-03 will be effective for the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ending
December 31, 2027, with early adoption permitted. The Company is currently evaluating the impact of this update on its consolidated financial statements.

In July 2025, the FASB issued ASU No. 2025-05, Financial Instruments—Credit Losses (Topic 326): Measurement of Credit Losses for Accounts
Receivable and Contract Assets (“ASU 2025-05”). The amendments in ASU 2025-05 clarify and simplify the application of the current expected credit loss
(CECL) model to trade receivables and contract assets arising from revenue transactions. The update permits the use of practical, historical loss-rate methods
for short-term receivables and provides additional guidance on applying credit loss concepts to unbilled revenue recognized under Topic 606. ASU 2025-05
will be effective for the Company’s fiscal year ending December 31, 2026, including interim periods within that fiscal year, with early adoption permitted. The
provisions of the amendments in this update are not expected to have a significant impact on the Company’s financial position, results of operations or cash
flows.

In September 2025, the FASB issued ASU No.  2025-06, Intangibles—Goodwill and Other—Internal-Use Software (Subtopic 350-40): Targeted
Improvements to the Accounting for Internal-Use Software (“ASU 2025-06”). The amendments in ASU 2025-06 are intended to reduce diversity in practice
and provide clearer guidance on the accounting for costs incurred in the development, implementation, and maintenance of internal-use software. The update
clarifies which costs should be capitalized versus expensed, refines the definition of “application development stage,” and enhances disclosure requirements
regarding significant internal-use software projects. ASU 2025-06 will be effective for the Company’s fiscal year ending December 31, 2028, including interim
periods within that fiscal year, with early adoption permitted. The provisions of the amendments in this update are not expected to have a significant impact on
the Company’s financial position, results of operations or cash flows.

2. REVENUE RECOGNITION

Disaggregation of Revenue

The following table disaggregates Revenue by service type and the timing of when these services are provided to the member or customer (in thousands):

Three Months Ended September 30, Nine Months Ended September 30,
   2025 2024 2025 2024

Services transferred at a point in time:
Flights, net of discounts and incentives $ 155,169  $ 155,355  $ 461,067  $ 469,968 
Other 23,469  25,224  66,080  70,170 

Services transferred over time:
Memberships 6,313  13,231  22,976  46,131 
Other 535  93  2,530  1,020 

Total Revenue $ 185,486  $ 193,903  $ 552,653  $ 587,289 
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Contract Balances

Accounts receivable, net consisted of the following (in thousands):

September 30, 2025 December 31, 2024

Gross receivables from members and customers $ 39,122  $ 39,187 
Undeposited funds 2,067  790 
Less: Allowance for credit losses (8,800) (7,661)
Accounts receivable, net $ 32,389  $ 32,316 

Deferred revenue consisted of the following (in thousands):

September 30, 2025 December 31, 2024

Flights - prepaid $ 697,423  $ 729,581 
Memberships - annual dues 10,995  17,638 
Other 2,773  2,393 
Deferred revenue - total $ 711,191  $ 749,612 

The non-current portion of Deferred revenue - total, which is presented within Other non-current liabilities on the condensed consolidated balance sheets,
was nil and $0.2 million as of September 30, 2025 and December 31, 2024, respectively.

Changes in Deferred revenue for the nine months ended September 30, 2025 were as follows (in thousands):

Deferred revenue as of December 31, 2024 $ 749,612 
   Amounts deferred during the period 514,232 
   Revenue recognized from amounts included in the deferred revenue beginning balance (371,602)
   Revenue from current period sales (181,051)
Deferred revenue as of September 30, 2025 $ 711,191 

Revenue expected to be recognized in future periods for performance obligations that are unsatisfied, or partially unsatisfied, as of September 30, 2025
were as follows (in thousands):

Remainder of 2025 $ 129,139 
2026 282,937 
2027 149,558 
2028 149,557 
Total Deferred revenue $ 711,191 

Costs to Obtain a Contract

Capitalized costs related to sales commissions and referral fees were $1.7 million and $5.5 million for the three and nine months ended September 30,
2025, respectively, and $2.3 million and $6.2 million for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2024, respectively.

As of September 30, 2025 and December 31, 2024, capitalized sales commissions and referral fees of $3.8 million and $4.6 million, respectively, were
included in Other current assets, and $0.2 million and $0.3 million, respectively, were included in Other non-current assets on the condensed consolidated
balance sheets. Amortization expense related to capitalized sales commissions and referral fees included in sales and marketing expense in the

10



condensed consolidated statements of operations was $2.2 million and $6.9 million for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2025, respectively, and
$2.3 million and $6.4 million for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2024, respectively.

3. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

Property and equipment, net consisted of the following (in thousands):

September 30, 2025 December 31, 2024

Aircraft $ 378,659  $ 443,193 
Software development costs 95,398  85,112 
Leasehold improvements 17,113  22,882 
Computer equipment 2,342  3,042 
Building and improvements 1,424  1,424 
Furniture and fixtures 1,403  3,322 
Tooling 504  3,246 
Vehicles 2,205  2,166 
     Total Property and equipment 499,048  564,387 
Less: Accumulated depreciation and amortization (193,632) (216,048)
Total Property and equipment, net $ 305,416  $ 348,339 

Depreciation and amortization expense, excluding amortization expense related to software development costs, was $5.0 million and $18.3 million for the
three and nine months ended September 30, 2025, respectively, and $3.7 million and $14.5 million for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2024,
respectively.

Amortization expense related to software development costs was $4.2 million and $15.2 million for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2025,
respectively, and $4.0 million and $14.6 million for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2024, respectively.

4. DIVESTITURE

Divestiture of Non-Core Services Businesses

On August 20, 2025, WUP and Air Partner Limited, our indirect subsidiary (“Air Partner”), completed the sale of 100% of the issued and outstanding
equity interests of each of Baines Simmons Limited, Kenyon International Emergency Services Limited, Kenyon International Emergency Services LLC and
Redline Assured Security Limited, in each case a former indirect subsidiary of the Company (collectively, the “Non-Core Services Businesses”), pursuant to a
definitive equity purchase agreement, dated August  14,  2025, with TrustFlight Limited. The Company received $21.5  million in net sales proceeds and
recognized a gain of $1.8 million on the sale of the Non-Core Services Businesses during the three months ended September 30, 2025.

5. GOODWILL AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Goodwill

We completed our annual goodwill impairment test over our reporting units as of September 1, 2025. We performed a quantitative impairment assessment
for both of the Company’s reporting units. For the legacy
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Wheels Up reporting unit (“WUP Legacy”), we used the discounted cash flow method by calculating the fair value of WUP Legacy based on the present value
of estimated future cash flows, which did not result in an impairment to Goodwill. For the Air Partner reporting unit, we used a combination of the discounted
cash flow and guideline public company methods, which did not result in impairment to Goodwill.

The following table presents Goodwill carrying values and the change in balance, by reporting unit, during the nine months ended September 30, 2025 (in
thousands):

WUP Legacy Air Partner Total

Balance as of December 31, 2024 $ 136,098  $ 80,947  $ 217,045 
Divestitures —  (12,876) (12,876)
Foreign currency translation adjustment —  5,761  5,761 

Balance as of September 30, 2025 $ 136,098  $ 73,832  $ 209,930 

__________________
(1)    Net of accumulated impairment losses of $306.2 million.
(2)    For the Air Partner reporting unit, reflects the amount of Goodwill allocated to the divestiture of the Non-Core Services Businesses (see Note 4).

Intangible Assets

The gross carrying value, accumulated amortization and net carrying value of Intangible assets consisted of the following (in thousands):

September 30, 2025
Gross Carrying

Value Accumulated Amortization
Net Carrying

Value

Status $ 80,000  $ 41,973  $ 38,027 
Customer relationships 86,534  52,528  34,006 
Trade name 10,000  5,247  4,753 
Developed technology 19,045  16,324  2,721 
Leasehold interest – favorable 600  141  459 
Foreign currency translation adjustment 330  233  97 
Total $ 196,509  $ 116,446  $ 80,063 

December 31, 2024
Gross Carrying

Value Accumulated Amortization
Net Carrying

Value

Status $ 80,000  $ 37,410  $ 42,590 
Customer relationships 89,121  45,700  43,421 
Trade name 10,709  5,196  5,513 
Developed technology 20,056  14,767  5,289 
Leasehold interest – favorable 600  124  476 
Foreign currency translation adjustment (808) (423) (385)
Total $ 199,678  $ 102,774  $ 96,904 

Amortization expense for intangible assets was $5.1 million and $15.3 million for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2025, respectively, and
$5.2 million and $15.6 million for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2024, respectively.

(1)

(2)
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Intangible Liabilities

Associated with our acquisition of Delta Private Jets on January 17, 2020, we recognized intangible liabilities for the fair value of complimentary Wheels
Up Connect Memberships provided to existing Delta Air Lines, Inc. (“Delta”) SkyMiles  360® customers as of the acquisition date, as required under the
Commercial Cooperation Agreement, dated as of January 17, 2020, by and among WUP, Wheels Up Partners LLC (“WUP LLC”) and Delta (as amended, the
“Original CCA”), which was subsequently replaced by the Amended and Restated Commercial Cooperation Agreement, dated as of June 15, 2024, by and
among WUP, WUP LLC and Delta (the “Amended CCA”). The gross carrying value, accumulated amortization and net carrying value of Intangible liabilities
consisted of the following (in thousands):

September 30, 2025
Gross Carrying

Value Accumulated Amortization
Net Carrying

Value

Intangible liabilities $ 20,000  $ 10,467  $ 9,533 

December 31, 2024
Gross Carrying

Value Accumulated Amortization
Net Carrying

Value

Intangible liabilities $ 20,000  $ 9,323  $ 10,677 

The current and long-term portions of Intangible liabilities are presented within Other current liabilities and Other non-current liabilities, respectively, on
the condensed consolidated balance sheets.

Amortization of Intangible liabilities, which reduces amortization expense, was $0.4 million and $1.1 million for each of the three and nine months ended
September 30, 2025 and 2024, respectively.

Future amortization expense of Intangible assets and Intangible liabilities held as of September 30, 2025, were as follows (in thousands):

Intangible
Assets

Intangible
Liabilities

Remainder of 2025 $ 4,960  $ 381 
2026 19,158  1,525 
2027 14,443  1,525 
2028 13,963  1,525 
2029 13,219  1,525 
Thereafter 14,320  3,052 
Total $ 80,063  $ 9,533 

6. CASH EQUIVALENTS AND RESTRICTED CASH

A reconciliation of Cash and cash equivalents and Restricted cash from the condensed consolidated balance sheets to the condensed consolidated
statements of cash flows is as follows (in thousands):

September 30, 2025 December 31, 2024

Cash and cash equivalents $ 125,327  $ 216,426 
Restricted cash 30,451  30,042 
Total $ 155,778  $ 246,468 
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Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents consisted of the following (in thousands):

September 30, 2025 December 31, 2024

Cash $ 75,132  $ 135,614 
Money market funds 50,195  80,812 
Cash and cash equivalents $ 125,327  $ 216,426 

Restricted Cash

As of September 30, 2025 and December 31, 2024, Restricted cash primarily consisted of (i) $18.7 million and $18.8 million, respectively, related to funds
held but unavailable for immediate use due to contractual restrictions, (ii) $6.6 million and $6.2 million, respectively, held by financial institutions to establish
standby letters of credit required by the lessors of certain corporate office space that we leased as of such dates, and (iii) $5.0 million as of each such date held
by financial institutions to collateralize our credit card programs. The standby letters of credit expire on May 31, 2031, December 31, 2033 and June 30, 2034.

7. LONG-TERM DEBT

The following table presents the components of Long-term debt, net (in thousands, except interest rates):

Maturity Date
Interest Rate per Annum as

of September 30, 2025 September 30, 2025 December 31, 2024

Revolving Equipment Notes 2029 SOFR + 1.75% $ 282,392  $ 317,484 
Term Loan 2028 10.0% 484,154  443,864 

Total debt 766,546  761,348 
Less: Total unamortized debt discount and debt issuance
costs 342,633  353,292 

Less: Current maturities of long-term debt 30,342  31,748 
Long-term debt, net $ 393,571  $ 376,308 

__________________
(1)    As of September 30, 2025, includes $7.0 million outstanding in connection with the Credit Support Premium (as defined below), which will become due and payable in-full upon the earlier of

repayment and extinguishment of the Revolving Equipment Note Facility (as defined below) and the termination of Delta’s obligation to provide credit support for the Revolving Equipment
Notes Facility. The Credit Support Premium is deemed a Revolving Loan (as defined in the Credit Agreement (as defined below)) under the Credit Agreement; however, any such accrued
amounts do not reduce Delta’s $100.0 million commitment available to be borrowed by the Company from time to time until September 20, 2026 under the Revolving Credit Facility (as defined
below).

(1)
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Maturities of principal debt payments for the next five years for debt obligations outstanding as of September 30, 2025 are as follows (in thousands):

Maturities

Remainder of 2025 $ 7,590 
2026 30,332 
2027 31,834 
2028 513,557 
2029 183,233 

Total $ 766,546 

Long-Term Debt Arrangements as of September 30, 2025

2024 Revolving Equipment Notes Facility

On November 13, 2024 (the “Initial Revolving Equipment Notes Closing Date”), WUP LLC entered into a Note Purchase Agreement, dated as of the
Initial Revolving Equipment Notes Closing Date (the “2024 Note Purchase Agreement”), with Wilmington Trust, National Association (“Wilmington Trust”),
as subordination agent and trustee, and Wheels Up Class A-1 Loan Trust 2024-1, a Delaware statutory trust (the “2024-1 Trust”), which provides for the
revolving issuance from time to time by WUP LLC of Series A-1 equipment notes (the “Revolving Equipment Notes”) in an aggregate principal amount up to
$332.0 million (the “Revolving Equipment Notes Facility”). The initial $331.3 million aggregate principal amount of Revolving Equipment Notes were issued
by WUP LLC on the Initial Revolving Equipment Notes Closing Date for gross proceeds equal to approximately 98.75% of the principal amount of the initial
Revolving Equipment Notes.

Pursuant to the 2024 Note Purchase Agreement, any amounts of principal repaid by WUP LLC on and after the Initial Revolving Equipment Notes Closing
Date and prior to November 13, 2027 (the “Availability Period”), either through regular principal amortization payments or from the early redemption of
principal amounts related to any aircraft secured by the Revolving Equipment Notes Facility, will become available to be re-borrowed by WUP LLC for the
purchase of additional aircraft to be secured by such facility during the Availability Period, subject to certain conditions. WUP LLC must also pay a customary
commitment fee on unused amounts available to be borrowed under the Revolving Equipment Note Facility. The maturity date for the Revolving Equipment
Notes Facility is five years after the Initial Revolving Equipment Notes Closing Date, or November 13, 2029 (the “Revolving Equipment Notes Maturity
Date”).

The Revolving Equipment Notes Facility utilizes an enhanced equipment trust certificate (EETC) loan structure. Pursuant to the 2024 Note Purchase
Agreement, Revolving Equipment Notes are issued from time to time pursuant to a Trust Indenture and Mortgage (together with any supplements thereto, the
“2024 Trust Indenture”) that was entered into by WUP LLC and Wilmington Trust, as the mortgagee thereunder, on the Initial Revolving Equipment Notes
Closing Date. The Revolving Equipment Notes bear interest at the variable rate of the then applicable three-month secured overnight funds rate (“SOFR”) plus
1.75% per annum from the Initial Revolving Equipment Notes Closing Date to the end of the Availability Period, SOFR plus 2.25% immediately after the end
of the Availability Period to November 13, 2028, and SOFR plus 2.75% from November 13, 2028 to the Revolving Equipment Notes Maturity Date, with
annual amortization of principal amount equal to 10% per annum through the end of the Availability Period and 12% per annum thereafter to the Revolving
Equipment Notes Maturity Date. Interest on the Revolving Equipment Notes is payable quarterly on February 15, May 15, August 15 and November 15 of each
year, which began on February 15, 2025, and on the Revolving Equipment Notes Maturity Date. Principal payments on the Revolving Equipment Notes are
scheduled for payment on the same dates as interest payments.

As of September 30, 2025, the Revolving Equipment Notes were secured by first-priority liens on 81 of the Company’s owned aircraft and in the future
will be secured by first-priority liens on any additional aircraft for which a Revolving Equipment Note is issued from time to time (collectively, the “Revolving
Equipment Notes Collateral”). WUP LLC may redeem any Revolving Equipment Note in connection with the sale of an aircraft that
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constitutes Revolving Equipment Notes Collateral or otherwise, at any time, and is not required to pay any prepayment premiums in connection with such early
redemptions. The maturity of the Revolving Equipment Notes may be accelerated upon the occurrence of certain events of default, including the failure by
WUP LLC (in some cases after notice or the expiration of a grace period, or both) to make payments thereunder when due, a failure to comply with certain
covenants and certain bankruptcy events involving the Company, its guarantors or Delta. WUP LLC’s obligations under the Revolving Equipment Notes are
guaranteed by the Company, WUP and WUPJ, which has a U.S. Federal Aviation Administration (“FAA”) Part 135 operating certificate. In the future, WUP
LLC must cause any of its subsidiaries and affiliates that hold a FAA Part 135 operating certificate to become a guarantor under the Revolving Equipment Note
Facility under certain circumstances.

The 2024 Note Purchase Agreement, 2024 Trust Indenture and related guarantees contain certain covenants, including a covenant that limits the maximum
loan to value ratio of all aircraft financed under the Revolving Equipment Notes Facility, a covenant that limits the maximum concentration of the outstanding
aggregate principal amount for Revolving Equipment Notes for specified models of aircraft relative to the outstanding aggregate principal amount of all aircraft
financed under the Revolving Equipment Notes Facility, and a requirement to maintain a liquidity reserve in the form of a cash amount or a letter of credit
equal to six months of interest charges based on the aggregate principal amount of Revolving Equipment Notes outstanding on any regularly scheduled
principal and interest payment date, in each case subject to certain cure rights of the Company. The 2024 Trust Indenture contains customary events of default
for facilities of its type, as well as an event of default that is triggered upon the occurrence and continuation of an event of default by Delta under its current
revolving credit agreement or any replacements thereof.

During the nine months ended September 30, 2025, WUP LLC (i)  redeemed in-full the Revolving Equipment Notes for 19 aircraft, which reduced the
aggregate principal amount outstanding under the Revolving Equipment Notes Facility by $45.3 million, and (ii) issued new Revolving Equipment Notes for
four aircraft in the aggregate principal amount of $33.9 million. As of September 30, 2025, the carrying value of the 81 aircraft that were subject to first-
priority liens under outstanding Revolving Equipment Notes was $292.9 million. Amortization expense for debt discounts and deferred financing costs of $0.2
million and $1.1 million were recorded in Interest expense in the condensed consolidated statement of operations for the three and nine months ended
September 30, 2025, respectively, and nil was recorded in interest expense in the condensed consolidated statement of operations for each of the three and nine
months ended September 30, 2024.

Credit Support

In connection with the initial closing of the Revolving Equipment Notes Facility, Delta agreed to provide credit support for the Revolving Equipment
Notes Facility, which effectively guarantees WUP LLC’s payment obligations thereunder upon the occurrence and continuation of specified events of default,
in exchange for an annual fee as a percentage of the aggregate principal amounts drawn under the Revolving Equipment Notes Facility that is payable-in-kind
by the Company and accrues interest over the life of the Revolving Equipment Notes Facility (the “Credit Support Premium”). The Credit Support Premium
constitutes a revolving loan payable to Delta under the Revolving Credit Facility. Amounts in respect of the Credit Support Premium accrue while the
Revolving Equipment Notes are outstanding and include interest that is compounded and capitalized on the last day of each calendar quarter; however, any
such accrued amounts do not reduce Delta’s $100.0 million commitment available to be borrowed by the Company from time to time until September 20, 2026
under the Revolving Credit Facility. The Credit Support Premium will become due and payable in-full upon the earlier of repayment and extinguishment of the
Revolving Equipment Note Facility and the termination of Delta’s obligation to provide credit support for the Revolving Equipment Notes Facility. Amounts
outstanding in connection with the Credit Support Premium are consolidated with amounts outstanding under the Term Loan in the long-term debt table above.

On the Initial Revolving Equipment Notes Closing Date, the Company entered into Amendment No. 2 to Credit Agreement (the “Second Credit Agreement
Amendment”), by and among the Company, as borrower, the other Loan Parties (as defined below) party thereto, as guarantors, Delta and CK Wheels LLC
(“CK Wheels”), together constituting the Required Lenders and Lead Lenders (as each term is defined in the Credit Agreement (as defined below)) thereunder,
and the Agent (as defined below), to make certain technical amendments to the Credit Agreement to permit the Revolving Equipment Notes Facility and
provide for the Credit Support Premium. The
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Second Credit Agreement Amendment did not materially amend any of the events of default or covenants, collateral provisions, terms related to existing
borrowings and repayments, the maturity date or otherwise alter Delta’s existing $100.0 million commitment under the Revolving Credit Facility.

Term Loan and Revolving Credit Facility

On September 20, 2023 (the “Credit Agreement Closing Date”), the Company entered into a Credit Agreement (the “Original Credit Agreement”), by and
among the Company, as borrower, certain subsidiaries of the Company, as guarantors (collectively with the Company, the “Loan Parties”), Delta, CK Wheels,
and Cox Investment Holdings LLC (“CIH” and, collectively with Delta and CK Wheels, the “Initial Lenders”), and U.S. Bank Trust Company, N.A., as
administrative agent for the Lenders (as defined below) and as collateral agent for the secured parties (the “Agent”), pursuant to which (i) the Initial Lenders
provided a term loan facility (the “Initial Term Loan”) in the aggregate original principal amount of $350.0 million and (ii) Delta provided commitments for a
revolving loan facility (the “Revolving Credit Facility”) in the aggregate original principal amount of $100.0 million. On September 20, 2023, the Company
issued the Initial Term Loan of $350.0 million to the Initial Lenders for net proceeds (before transaction-related expense) of $343.0 million.

On November 15, 2023 (the “Final Credit Agreement Closing Date”), the Company entered into Amendment No. 1 to Credit Agreement (the “First Credit
Agreement Amendment” and, collectively with the Original Credit Agreement, Second Credit Agreement Amendment and Amendment No.  3 to Credit
Agreement, dated as of April 30, 2025, the “Credit Agreement”), by and among the Company, as borrower, the other Loan Parties party thereto, as guarantors,
the Initial Lenders, and certain other lenders named therein (collectively, the “Incremental Term Lenders” and, collectively with the Initial Lenders, the
“Lenders”), and the Agent, pursuant to which, among other things, the Incremental Term Lenders joined the Credit Agreement and provided an additional term
loan facility (the “Incremental Term Loan” and, together with the Initial Term Loan, the “Term Loan” and, together with the Revolving Credit Facility, the
“Credit Facility”) in the aggregate original principal amount of $40.0  million. On the Final Credit Agreement Closing Date, the Company issued the
Incremental Term Loan of $40.0 million to the Incremental Term Lenders for net proceeds (before transaction-related expense) of $39.2 million. Upon the
closing of the Incremental Term Loan and as of September 30, 2025, the loans under the Credit Agreement consisted of (i) the Term Loan in the aggregate
principal amount of $390.0 million and (ii) the Revolving Credit Facility in the aggregate original principal amount of $100.0 million, which remains available
to be drawn through September 20, 2026.

The scheduled maturity date for the Term Loan is September 20, 2028, and the scheduled maturity date for the Revolving Credit Facility is the earlier of
September 20, 2028 and the first date after September 20, 2026 on which all amounts owed under the Revolving Credit Facility have been repaid, subject in
each case to earlier termination upon acceleration or termination of any obligations upon the occurrence and continuation of an event of default. Interest on the
Term Loan and any borrowings under the Revolving Credit Facility (each, a “Loan” and collectively, the “Loans”) accrues at a rate of 10% per annum on the
unpaid principal balance of the Loans then outstanding. Accrued interest on each Loan is payable-in-kind as compounded interest and capitalized to the
principal amount of the applicable Loan on the last day of each of March, June, September and December each year, and the applicable maturity date. If in the
future the Company or its subsidiaries either redeem in-full all outstanding Revolving Equipment Notes or commence payoff at maturity thereof, the Company
may elect to make interest payments or some portion thereof on any Loans then outstanding in cash. Also, upon the occurrence and during the continuation of
an event of default under the Credit Agreement, interest will accrue on (i) the unpaid principal balance of the Loans at the rate then applicable to such Loans
plus 2% per annum and (ii) all other outstanding liabilities, interest, expenses, fees and other sums under the Credit Agreement, at a rate equal to the Alternate
Base Rate (as defined in the Credit Agreement) plus 2% per annum.

The Credit Agreement also contains certain covenants and events of default, in each case customary for facilities of its type. The obligations under the
Credit Agreement are secured by a first-priority lien on unencumbered assets of the Loan Parties (excluding any segregated account exclusively holding
customer deposits and certain other assets, in each case as specified in the Credit Agreement) and a junior lien on the Revolving Equipment Notes Collateral.
The Credit Agreement is guaranteed by all U.S. and certain non-U.S. direct and indirect subsidiaries of the Company and the equity interests of such
subsidiaries have been pledged as collateral. In the

17



future, the Company may be required to add any new or after-acquired subsidiaries of the Company that meet certain criteria as guarantors. As of
September 30, 2025, we were in compliance with the covenants under the Credit Agreement and related credit documents.

In connection with the funding of the Initial Term Loan, the Company entered into the Investment and Investor Rights Agreement, dated as of the Credit
Agreement Closing Date (the “Original Investor Rights Agreement”), by and among the Company and the Initial Lenders, pursuant to which the Company
issued to the Initial Lenders 141,313,671 shares of Common Stock in the aggregate (the “Initial Shares”) in a private placement (the “Initial Issuance”) on the
Credit Agreement Closing Date. In addition, the Company agreed to issue an additional 529,926,270 shares of Common Stock in the aggregate (the “Deferred
Shares” and, together with the Initial Shares, the “Investor Shares”) in a subsequent private placement (the “Deferred Issuance” and, together with the Initial
Issuance, the “Investor Issuances”).

In connection with the transactions contemplated by the First Credit Agreement Amendment, the Company entered into Amendment No. 1 to Investment
and Investor Rights Agreement, dated as of the Final Credit Agreement Closing Date (the “First Investor Rights Agreement Amendment” and, collectively with
the Original Investor Rights Agreement, Amendment No. 2 to Investment and Investor Rights Agreement, dated September 22, 2024, Amendment No. 3 to
Investment and Investor Rights Agreement, dated September 21, 2025, and the Investor Rights Agreements Joinders (as defined below), the “Investor Rights
Agreement”), with each Initial Lender, which contained, among others, certain revisions to reflect the issuance of the Deferred Shares. Substantially
concurrently with entering into the First Investor Rights Agreement Amendment, on the Final Credit Agreement Closing Date, the Company and Initial Lenders
entered into joinders to the Investor Rights Agreement (collectively, the “investor Rights Agreement Joinders”) with each Incremental Term Lender (or its
applicable affiliate), pursuant to which each Incremental Term Lender (or its applicable affiliate) joined the Investor Rights Agreement and assumed the rights
and obligations of an Additional Investor (as defined in the Investor Rights Agreement) thereunder, including the right to receive a pro rata portion of the
Investor Shares. The Company issued the Deferred Shares to the Lenders on the Final Credit Agreement Closing Date in a private placement. Following the
Deferred Issuance, each Lender had been issued a number of shares equal to its pro rata portion of the Investor Shares based on its participation in the Term
Loan.

In accordance with Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) 480, Distinguishing Liabilities from Equity, and ASC 815, Derivatives and Hedging, the
Company determined that the Term Loan, Initial Issuance and Deferred Issuance did not contain any features that would qualify as a derivative or embedded
derivative and require bifurcation. In addition, the Company determined the Initial Issuance and Deferred Issuance should be classified as equity. In accordance
with ASC 470, Debt, the allocation on a relative fair value basis resulted in gross amounts recorded of $44.9 million for the Initial Term Loan, $64.2 million for
the Initial Issuance and $240.9 million for the Deferred Issuance, in each case during the year ended December 31, 2023.

In accordance with ASC 815, Derivatives and Hedging, the Company determined the reallocation of the Deferred Issuance between the Lenders in
connection with the First Credit Agreement Amendment and Investor Rights Agreement Joinders that resulted in a pro rata portion of the Investor Shares being
issued to the Incremental Term Lenders on the Final Credit Agreement Closing Date represented a modification of a freestanding equity-classified written call
option and the modification was to be recognized as if cash had been paid as consideration for the shares of Common Stock issued to the Incremental Term
Lenders (collectively, the “Reallocated Shares”). Accordingly, the Reallocated Shares were treated as a debt discount in accordance with the guidance in ASC
835, Interest, and the value of the Incremental Term Loan and the Reallocated Shares was apportioned using a relative fair value allocation that resulted in
gross amounts recorded during the three months ended December 31, 2023 of $9.4 million for the Incremental Term Loan and $30.6 million for the Reallocated
Shares.

Aggregate issuance costs of $29.5 million were incurred in connection with the Original Credit Agreement, First Credit Agreement Amendment, Original
Investor Rights Agreement and First Investor Rights Agreement Amendment. The deferred issuance costs were allocated on a relative fair value basis, resulting
in an allocation of $4.1 million in the aggregate for the Term Loan and $25.4 million in the aggregate for the Investor Issuances. The initial carrying value of
the Term Loan was $41.4 million as of September 20, 2023, which reflected $3.4 million of unamortized debt issuance costs and $305.2 million of unamortized
debt discount. The initial carrying value of the
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Incremental Term Loan was $8.7 million as of November 15, 2023, which reflected $0.7 million of unamortized debt issuance costs and $30.6 million of
unamortized debt discount.

Amortization (Accretion) of debt discounts and deferred issuance costs associated with the Term Loan of $4.8 million and $9.6 million were recorded in
Interest expense in the condensed consolidated statement of operations for the three and nine months ended September  30, 2025, respectively, and
$(0.7) million and $(4.8) million were recorded in Interest expense in the condensed consolidated statement of operations for the three and nine months ended
September 30, 2024, respectively.

Long-Term Debt Extinguished as of or prior to September 30, 2025

Amortization expense for debt discounts and deferred financing costs associated with the interim extinguishment of certain WUP LLC’s former fixed rate
equipment notes, which were redeemed in-full on the Initial Revolving Equipment Notes Closing Date, of nil was recorded in Interest expense in the
condensed consolidated statement of operations for each of the three and nine months ended September 30, 2025, and $1.1 million and $3.8 million were
recorded in Interest expense in the condensed consolidated statement of operations for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2024, respectively.

8. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

Fair value is defined as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability, an exit price, in an orderly transaction between
unaffiliated willing market participants on the measurement date under current market conditions. Assets and liabilities recorded at fair value are measured and
classified in accordance with a three-tier fair value hierarchy based on the observability of the inputs available and activity in the markets used to measure fair
value. A financial instrument’s level within the fair value hierarchy is based on the lowest level of input that is significant to the fair value measurement.

Level 1 - Quoted prices, unadjusted, in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that can be accessed at the measurement date.

Level 2 - Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly.

Level 3 - Unobservable inputs developed using our own estimates and assumptions, which reflect those that market participants would
use in pricing the asset or liability.
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Financial instruments that are measured at fair value on a recurring and non-recurring basis and their corresponding placement in the fair value hierarchy
consisted of the following (in thousands):

September 30, 2025
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Fair Value

Assets:
Money market funds $ 50,195  $ —  $ —  50,195 
Total assets $ 50,195  $ —  $ —  $ 50,195 

Liabilities:
Warrant liability - Public Warrants $ —  $ 13  $ —  $ 13 
Warrant liability - Private Warrants —  7  —  7 
Revolving Equipment Notes —  —  296,994  296,994 
Term Loan —  —  331,824  331,824 
Total liabilities $ —  $ 20  $ 628,818  $ 628,838 

December 31, 2024
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Fair Value

Assets:
Money market funds $ 80,812  $ —  $ —  $ 80,812 
Total assets $ 80,812  $ —  $ —  $ 80,812 

Liabilities:
Warrant liability - Public Warrants $ —  $ 13  $ —  $ 13 
Warrant liability - Private Warrants —  7  —  7 
Revolving Equipment Notes —  —  317,484  317,484 
Term Loan

—  —  284,845  284,845 
Total liabilities $ —  $ 20  $ 602,329  $ 602,349 

__________________
(1) Financial instrument measured on a recurring basis.
(2) Financial instrument measured on a non-recurring basis.

The carrying amount of Money market funds approximates fair value and is classified within Level 1, because we determined the fair value through quoted
market prices.

The Warrants (as defined below) were accounted for as a liability in accordance with ASC 815-40. The Warrant liability was measured at fair value upon
assumption and on a recurring basis, with changes in fair value presented in the condensed consolidated statements of operations. As of each of September 30,
2025 and December 31, 2024, we used Level 2 inputs for the Warrants. See Note 11 for additional information about the Warrants.

The estimated fair value of the Revolving Equipment Notes is categorized as a Level 3 valuation. We considered the appraised value of aircraft subject to
first-priority liens under the Revolving Equipment Notes, as sourced during the second quarter of 2025 and as required under the Revolving Equipment Notes,
to determine the fair value of the Revolving Equipment Notes as of September 30, 2025.

The estimated fair value of the Term Loan is categorized as a Level 3 valuation. The estimated fair value as of September 30, 2025 was estimated using a
discounted cash flows analysis, based on our current estimated incremental borrowing rate for a similar type of borrowing arrangement and taking into account
amounts outstanding as of September 30, 2025 in connection with the Credit Support Premium.

(1)

(1)

(1)

(2)

(2)

(1)

(1)

(1)

(2)

(2)
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9. LEASES

Leases primarily pertain to certain controlled aircraft, office spaces and operational facilities, which are all accounted for as operating leases. Certain of
these operating leases have renewal options to further extend for additional time periods at our discretion.

We have certain variable lease agreements with certain aircraft lessors that contain payment terms based on an hourly lease rate multiplied by the number
of flight hours for the applicable aircraft during a given period. Variable lease payments are not included in the right-of-use asset and lease liability balances but
rather are expensed as incurred.

The components of net lease cost were as follows (in thousands):

Three Months Ended September 30, Nine Months Ended September 30,
2025 2024 2025 2024

Operating lease costs $ 3,359  $ 6,956  $ 12,709  $ 22,005 
Short-term lease costs 1,730  160  4,395  546 
Variable lease payments 7,152  5,458  10,214  15,597 
Total lease costs $ 12,241  $ 12,574  $ 27,318  $ 38,148 

Lease costs related to leased aircraft and operational facilities are included in Cost of revenue in the condensed consolidated statements of operations.
Lease costs related to leased aircraft were $3.6 million and $12.8 million during the three and nine months ended September  30, 2025, respectively, and
$8.4 million and $25.1 million for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2024, respectively.

Lease costs related to our leased corporate headquarters and other office space, including expenses for non-lease components, are allocated within the
condensed consolidated statements of operations based on employee headcount. Sublease income is presented in General and administrative expenses in the
condensed consolidated statements of operations, and was not material for each of the three and nine months ended September 30, 2025 and 2024.

As part of our continuing cost reduction initiatives, in the first quarter of 2025, we leased alternative corporate office space in New York City and vacated a
larger leased corporate office space in New York City, for which we are actively seeking a sublease tenant. Vacating the former office space was identified as a
triggering event for impairment testing for the impacted asset group, including the right-of-use asset and associated leasehold improvements and furniture. We
estimated the fair value of the asset group using a discounted cash flow approach, which considered estimated future cash flows associated with the asset
group. We recorded a one-time non-cash impairment charge of $20.2 million during the three months ended March 31, 2025 representing the full carrying
value of the right of use asset for the vacated space. The impairment charge is presented in General and administrative expense in the condensed consolidated
statements of operations for the nine months ended September 30, 2025.

Supplemental cash flow information related to operating leases were as follows (in thousands):

Nine Months Ended September 30,
2025 2024

Cash paid for amounts included in the measurement of operating lease liabilities:
Operating cash flows paid for operating leases $ 13,656  $ 22,792 
Right-of-use assets obtained in exchange for operating lease obligations $ 10,738  $ 4,187 
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Supplemental balance sheet information related to leases were as follows:

September 30, 2025 December 31, 2024

Weighted-average remaining lease term (in years):
Operating leases 6.7 6.6

Weighted-average discount rate:
Operating leases 10.5% 10.1%

As of September 30, 2025, maturities of lease liabilities were as follows (in thousands):

Year ending December 31, Operating Leases

2025 (remaining) $ 3,683 
2026 12,631 
2027 12,308 
2028 10,760 
2029 10,547 
Thereafter 26,313 
Total lease payments 76,242 

Less: Imputed interest (21,353)
Total lease obligations $ 54,889 

10. STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY AND EQUITY-BASED COMPENSATION

Stockholders’ Equity

Pursuant to the Company’s Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation, filed with the Secretary of State of the State of Delaware on November 15,
2023, we are authorized to issue up to 1,525,000,000 shares, consisting of (i) 1,500,000,000 shares of Common Stock and (ii) 25,000,000 shares of preferred
stock. Holders of Common Stock are entitled to one vote per share; provided, that by agreement: (i) certain parties to the Investor Rights Agreement that are
not a “citizen of the United States” (as defined in 49 USC § 40102(a)(15)(C)) (collectively, the “Non-Citizen Investors”) may be afforded collective voting
rights equal to 1% of all shares of Common Stock entitled to vote at a meeting of the Company’s stockholders; (ii) for so long as such Non-Citizen Investors
collectively hold such shares of Common Stock, the shares of Common Stock held by CK Wheels in excess of 23.9% of all shares of Common stock entitled to
vote at a meeting of the Company’s stockholders will not have voting rights (subject to ratable adjustment if the Non-Citizen Investors cease to own
(beneficially or of record) a certain number of shares of Common Stock); and (iii) any shares of Common Stock owned by Delta above 29.9% will be neutral
shares with respect to voting rights and will be voted in proportion to all other votes cast (“for”, “against” or “abstain”) at a meeting of the Company’s
stockholders by stockholders other than by Delta.

At-the-Market Common Stock Offering Program

On August 29, 2025, we entered into an ATM Equity Offering  Sales Agreement with BofA Securities, Inc. and Jefferies LLC (each, a “Sales Agent” and
together, the “Sales Agents”), pursuant to which we may sell, from time to time, up to an aggregate sales price of $50.0 million of our Common Stock through
the Sales Agents (the  “ATM Program”). During each of the three and nine months ended September 30, 2025, the Company issued 21,157,534 shares of
Common Stock under the ATM Program for $49.4 million in aggregate gross proceeds, resulting in aggregate net proceeds to the Company of approximately
$47.6 million after deducting sales commissions.

SM
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Equity-Based Compensation

The Company’s outstanding equity-based compensation awards to its directors, executive officers, employees and other eligible personnel have been made
pursuant to the Wheels Up Experience Inc. 2021 Long-Term Incentive Plan, as amended and restated effective April 1, 2023 (as amended by the LTIP
Amendments (as defined herein), the “Amended and Restated 2021 LTIP”), the Wheels Up Experience Inc. Performance Award Agreement, dated as of
November 30, 2023, granted to George Mattson (the “CEO Performance Plan”), the Wheels Up Experience Inc. Performance Award Agreement, dated as of
March 31, 2025, granted to John Verkamp, our Chief Financial Officer (the “CFO Performance Plan”), the Wheels Up Experience Inc. Performance Award
Agreement, dated as of May 20, 2024, granted to David Harvey (the “CCO Performance Plan” and, collectively with the CEO Performance Plan and CFO
Performance Plan, the “Executive Performance Plans”), nine equity-based compensation plans that were approved by the board of directors of WUP
(collectively, the “WUP Management Incentive Plan”) prior to the business combination consummated on July 13, 2021 (the “Business Combination Closing
Date”) between WUP and Aspirational Consumer Lifestyle Corp. (“Aspirational”), a blank check company (the “Business Combination”), and the Wheels Up
Partners Holdings LLC Option Plan (the “WUP Option Plan”), which was approved by the board of directors of WUP prior to the Business Combination.
Additional details about these equity-based compensation arrangements are below.

WUP Management Incentive Plan

In March 2014, the WUP Management Incentive Plan was established, which provided for the issuance of WUP profits interests, restricted or unrestricted,
to employees, consultants and other qualified persons. Following the consummation of the Business Combination, no new grants can be made under the WUP
Management Incentive Plan. Vested WUP profits interests are eligible to be exchanged into shares of Common Stock before July 13, 2031. Amounts of WUP
profits interests reported in the tables below represent the maximum number of WUP profits interests outstanding or that could be realized upon vesting and
immediately exchanged for the maximum number of shares of Common Stock. The actual number of shares of Common Stock received upon exchange of such
WUP profits interests will depend on the trading price per share of Common Stock at the time of such exchange.

The following table summarizes the WUP profits interests activity under the WUP Management Incentive Plan as of September 30, 2025:

Number of WUP
Profits Interests

Weighted-Average Grant
Date Fair Value

(in thousands)
Outstanding WUP profits interests as of January 1, 2025 2,881  $ 4.16 
Granted —  — 
Exchanged —  — 
Expired/forfeited —  — 
Outstanding WUP profits interests as of September 30, 2025 2,881  $ 4.16 

The weighted-average remaining contractual term as of September 30, 2025, for WUP profits interests outstanding was approximately 5.8 years. All WUP
profits interests vested as of or prior to December 31, 2023.

WUP Option Plan

In December 2016, the WUP Option Plan was established, which provided for the issuance of stock options to purchase WUP common interests at an
exercise price based on the fair market value of the interests on the date of grant. Generally, WUP stock options vest over a four-year service period and expire
on the tenth anniversary of the grant date. Each outstanding WUP stock option is exercisable for one share of Common Stock.
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The following table summarizes the activity under the WUP Option Plan as of September 30, 2025:

Number of WUP
Stock Options

Weighted-
Average Exercise

Price
Weighted-Average Grant

Date Fair Value
(in thousands)

Outstanding WUP stock options as of January 1, 2025 826  $ 74.21  $ 11.57 
Granted —  —  — 
Exercised —  —  — 
Forfeited (22) 71.49  10.25 
Expired —  —  — 
Outstanding WUP stock options as of September 30, 2025 804  $ 74.28  $ 11.61 

Exercisable WUP stock options as of September 30, 2025 804  $ 74.28  $ 11.61 

The aggregate intrinsic value as of September  30, 2025, for WUP stock options that were outstanding and exercisable was nil. The weighted-average
remaining contractual term as of September 30, 2025, for WUP stock options that were outstanding and exercisable was approximately 3.5 years. All WUP
stock options were vested as of December 31, 2023.

Amended and Restated 2021 LTIP

In connection with the Business Combination, the Company’s Board of Directors (the “Board”) and stockholders of Wheels Up adopted the Wheels Up
Experience Inc. 2021 Long-Term Incentive Plan (the “Original 2021 LTIP”), for employees, consultants and other qualified persons. Following approval by the
Board, (i) at the 2023 annual meeting of the Company’s stockholders, the Company’s stockholders approved the Amended and Restated 2021 LTIP to increase
the aggregate number of shares of Common Stock available for awards made thereunder by 2,415,000 shares and amend certain other plan provisions, (ii) at
the 2024 annual meeting of the Company’s stockholders (the “2024 Annual Meeting”), the Company’s stockholders approved Amendment No. 1 to the
Amended and Restated 2021 LTIP (the “First LTIP Amendment”), to increase the aggregate number of shares of Common Stock available for awards made
under the Amended and Restated 2021 LTIP by 25,000,000 shares, and (iii) at the 2025 annual meeting of the Company’s stockholders (the “2025 Annual
Meeting”), the Company’s stockholders approved Amendment No. 2 to the Amended and Restated 2021 LTIP (the “Second LTIP Amendment” and, together
with the First LTIP Amendment, the “LTIP Amendments”), to increase the aggregate number of shares of Common Stock available for awards made under the
Amended and Restated 2021 LTIP by an additional 30,000,000 shares and extend the termination date of such plan to March 26, 2035. The Amended and
Restated 2021 LTIP provides for the grant of incentive options, nonstatutory options, restricted stock, restricted stock units (“RSUs”), including performance-
based RSUs (“PSUs”), rights, dividend equivalents, other stock-based awards, performance awards, cash awards or any combination of the foregoing. As of
September 30, 2025, an aggregate of 60.1 million shares were authorized for issuance under the Amended and Restated 2021 LTIP.

RSUs

RSUs granted under the Amended and Restated 2021 LTIP generally vest at intervals up to a four-year service period, subject to the grantee’s continued
service to the Company through the applicable vesting date. The following table summarizes the activity under the Amended and Restated 2021 LTIP related to
RSUs as of September 30, 2025:
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Number of RSUs
Weighted-Average Grant

Date Fair Value
(in thousands)

Non-vested RSUs as of January 1, 2025 10,134  $ 2.76 
Granted 11,874  1.24 
Vested (2,119) 3.81 
Forfeited (1,037) 1.83 
Non-vested RSUs as of September 30, 2025 18,852  $ 1.74 

The total unrecognized compensation cost related to non-vested RSUs was $26.3 million as of September 30, 2025 and is expected to be recognized over a
weighted-average period of 2.6 years.

PSUs

Under the terms of the PSUs granted to certain employees under the Amended and Restated 2021 LTIP, upon the achievement of certain pre-determined
performance objectives, each PSU may settle into shares of our Common Stock. The PSUs will vest, if at all, upon the actual achievement of the related
performance objectives, subject to specified change of control exceptions and the grantee’s continued service to the Company through the applicable vesting
date.

The following table summarizes the activity under the Amended and Restated 2021 LTIP related to PSUs as of September 30, 2025:

Number of PSUs
Weighted-Average Grant

Date Fair Value
(in thousands)

Non-vested PSUs as of January 1, 2025 387  $ 3.05 
Granted 1,747  1.20 
Vested —  — 
Forfeited (360) 2.73 
Non-vested PSUs as of September 30, 2025 1,774  $ 1.89 

Compensation expense associated with PSUs is recognized over the vesting period of the awards that are ultimately expected to vest when the achievement
of the related performance objectives becomes probable. As of September 30, 2025, the achievement of the performance objectives associated with non-vested
PSUs was deemed probable. The total unrecognized compensation cost related to non-vested PSUs deemed probable of being achieved was $1.9 million as of
September 30, 2025 and is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of 1.8 years.
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Wheels Up Stock Options

Wheels Up stock options granted under the Amended and Restated 2021 LTIP vest quarterly over a three-year service period and expire on the tenth
anniversary of the grant date. The following table summarizes the activity under the Amended and Restated 2021 LTIP related to Wheels Up stock options as of
September 30, 2025:

Number of Wheels Up Stock
Options

Weighted- Average
Exercise Price

Weighted-Average Grant
Date Fair Value

(in thousands)

Outstanding Wheels Up stock options as of January 1, 2025 77  $ 100.00  $ 47.52 
Granted —  —  — 

Exercised —  —  — 

Forfeited —  —  — 
Expired —  —  — 

Outstanding Wheels Up stock options as of September 30, 2025 77  $ 100.00  $ 47.52 

Exercisable Wheels Up stock options as of September 30, 2025 77  $ 100.00  $ 47.52 

The aggregate intrinsic value as of September 30, 2025, for Wheels Up stock options that were outstanding and exercisable was nil. The weighted-average
remaining contractual term as of September 30, 2025, for Wheels Up stock options that were outstanding and exercisable was approximately 2.1 years.

Executive Performance Plans

The Compensation Committee of the Board approved the CEO Performance Plan granted to George Mattson, the Company’s Chief Executive Officer,
CFO Performance Plan granted to John Verkamp, the Company’s Chief Financial Officer, and CCO Performance Plan granted to David Harvey, the Company’s
former Chief Commercial Officer, effective November 30, 2023, March 31, 2025 and May 20, 2024, respectively. Except as set forth in Section III.A of the
Amended and Restated 2021 LTIP, the Executive Performance Plans incorporate the terms of the Amended and Restated 2021 LTIP, as it may be amended from
time-to-time. Each Executive Performance Plan is intended to constitute a standalone equity incentive plan and any shares of Common Stock issued under such
awards will not be issued under, or count against the number of shares of Common Stock reserved pursuant to, any of the Company’s other equity-based
compensation plans or awards.

At the (i) 2024 Annual Meeting, the Company’s stockholders approved the CEO Performance Plan and the potential issuance of up to 73.0 million shares
of Common Stock thereunder and (ii) 2025 Annual Meeting, the Company’s stockholders approved the CFO Performance Plan and CCO Performance Plan,
and the potential issuance of up to 12.0  million and 15.0  million shares of Common Stock, respectively, under such awards, in each case subject to the
satisfaction of the applicable performance- and service-based vesting conditions under such award, if at all. If on any Determination Date (as defined below)
there is not a sufficient amount of shares authorized by the Company's stockholders to deliver the number of shares due under the Executive Performance Plans
or any such Executive Performance Plan has not been approved by the Company’s stockholders, then upon vesting, if at all, any amounts payable under any
such Executive Performance Plan will not be paid in the form of the issuance of new shares of Common Stock and instead will be payable in cash.

The Executive Performance Plans are one-time performance awards granted to our Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer and former Chief
Commercial Officer in lieu of future annual equity compensation grants and are intended to provide each of them with the opportunity to share in the long-term
growth of the value of the Company. The Executive Performance Plans consist of a contingent right to receive a number of newly issued shares of Common
Stock upon: (i) repayment of the Company’s borrowings under the $390.0 million Term Loan plus any additional amounts drawn on the Term Loan, if at all;
and (ii) satisfaction of service-based vesting conditions, which provide that 25% of the CEO Performance Plan and CCO Performance Plan will be eligible to
vest on each of September 20, 2024, 2025, 2026 and 2027, and one-third of the CFO Performance Plan will be eligible to vest on each of September 20, 2025,
2026 and 2027, in each case so long as such officer remains employed with the
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Company as of such dates, subject to limited exceptions. A “Repayment Event” includes certain refinancings of the Term Loan on or before September 20,
2028, the scheduled maturity date of the Term Loan. Subject to the satisfaction of the applicable performance- and service-based vesting conditions described
above, the number of shares of Common Stock that may vest and be issued under any Executive Performance Plan will first be determined on December 31st
of the year in which a Repayment Event occurs, and then on December 31st of each subsequent year (each such date, a “Determination Date”) until December
31, 2028 (the “Final Determination Date”). At any Determination Date following a Repayment Event, the number of shares of Common Stock issuable under
any Executive Performance Plan in connection with such Determination Date, if any, will be determined using the then applicable percentage associated with
the service-based vesting condition (the “Service Vested Percentage”).

The number of shares of Common Stock subject to vesting and issuance, if any, under any Executive Performance Plan on each Determination Date
following a Repayment Event is based on a formula that aligns the number of shares of Common Stock issuable under such Executive Performance Plan with
the repayment or refinancing of the Term Loan and Revolving Credit Facility, the then applicable dollar value of the shares of Common Stock issued to the
Lenders under the Investor Rights Agreement and the volume weighted average price per share of Common Stock during the 60 trading day period prior to the
applicable Determination Date. The number of shares of Common Stock, if any, issuable under the Executive Performance Plans will vary depending on,
among other things: (i) the occurrence and timing of a Repayment Event; (ii) the Total Investor Return (as defined in the Executive Performance Plans) as a
multiple of the aggregate principal amount of the Term Loan and any borrowings under the Revolving Credit Facility as of the applicable Determination Date,
if any; and (iii) the Service Vested Percentage as of the applicable Determination Date. There can be no assurance that the performance- and service-based
vesting conditions under the Executive Performance Plans will be satisfied or that the foregoing variables will result in the vesting and issuance of any shares
of Common Stock or cash payments pursuant to the Executive Performance Plans.

As of September 30, 2025, the performance-based vesting conditions for the outstanding and unvested Executive Performance Plans were not met and no
shares had vested. As of September 30, 2025, the achievement of the related performance objective was deemed probable of being achieved on September 20,
2028, the scheduled maturity date of the Term Loan. The grant-date fair value of the CFO Performance Plan as of March 31, 2025, using a Monte Carlo
simulation model, was $9.7 million. The derived service periods for the Executive Performance Plans, which began on the respective grant dates, were: (i) for
the CEO Performance Plan, 5.2 years;  (ii)  for the CCO Performance Plan, 4.7 years;  and (iii)  for the CFO Performance Plan, 3.8 years. As a result of his
departure from his position with the Company effective June 19, 2025, our former Chief Commercial Officer will only be credited with 50% of the Service
Vested Percentage pursuant to the terms of the CCO Performance Plan in the event all performance-based vesting conditions are satisfied or a Change of
Control (as defined in the CCO Performance Plan) occurs. Accordingly, 50% of the CCO Performance Plan was forfeited and for the three and nine months
ended September  30, 2025, we recognized a $4.1  million cumulative reversal of related equity-based compensation expense that was recognized in prior
periods.

The total unrecognized compensation cost related to the outstanding and unvested Executive Performance Plans was $118.7 million as of September 30,
2025 and is expected to be recognized over 3.3 years. As of September  30, 2025, the carrying amount of the outstanding Executive Performance Plans,
including carrying amounts related to the CFO Performance Plan and CCO Performance Plan that until receipt of stockholder approval of such plans at the
2025 Annual Meeting were classified as mezzanine equity, was classified as equity in the condensed consolidated balance sheet under Additional paid-in
capital.

Fair Value Estimates

We estimated fair value to measure compensation cost of the Executive Performance Plans on the date of grant using techniques that are considered to be
consistent with the objective of measuring fair value. In selecting the
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appropriate technique, management considered, among other factors, the nature of the instrument, the market risks that it embodies, and the expected means of
settlement.

Estimating fair values of the Executive Performance Plans requires the development of significant and subjective estimates that may, and are likely to,
change over the duration of the instrument with related changes in internal and external factors. In addition, option-pricing models are highly volatile and
sensitive to changes.

The following table summarizes the significant assumptions used to estimate the fair value on the date of grant for the outstanding and unvested Executive
Performance Plans granted during fiscal years 2024 and 2025:

2025 2024

Expected term (in years) 3.8 4.7
Volatility 105% 70%
Risk-free rate 3.9% 4.4%
Expected dividend rate —% —%

__________________
(1)    Assumptions used in the Monte Carlo simulation related to the CFO Performance Plan, which was granted on March 31, 2025.
(2)    Assumptions used in the Monte Carlo simulation related to the CCO Performance Plan, which was granted on May 20, 2024.

Equity-Based Compensation Expense

The following table summarizes equity-based compensation expense for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2025 and 2024, respectively (in
thousands):

Three Months Ended September 30, Nine Months Ended September 30,
2025 2024 2025 2024

Compensation expense for RSUs and PSUs $ 3,307  $ 1,672  $ 9,747  $ 8,004 
Compensation expense for the Executive Performance Plans 9,192  6,213  23,708  25,360 
Total equity-based compensation expense $ 12,499  $ 7,885  $ 33,455  $ 33,364 

The following table summarizes equity-based compensation expense recognized by condensed consolidated statement of operations line item for the three
and nine months ended September 30, 2025 and 2024, respectively (in thousands):

Three Months Ended September 30, Nine Months Ended September 30,
2025 2024 2025 2024

Cost of revenue $ 24  $ 535  $ 202  $ 2,097 
Technology and development 406  245  1,170  881 
Sales and marketing 290  161  790  428 
General and administrative 11,779  6,944  31,293  29,958 
Total equity-based compensation expense $ 12,499  $ 7,885  $ 33,455  $ 33,364 

Earnout Shares

As part of the Business Combination, existing holders of WUP equity, including certain holders of WUP profits interests and restricted interests under the
WUP Management Incentive Plan, but excluding holders of WUP stock options, have the right to receive up to 0.9 million additional shares of Common Stock
(the “Earnout Shares”) that will vest, if at all, upon the achievement of separate market conditions. One-third of the Earnout Shares will vest and be issued if
the Common Stock closing price is greater than or equal to $125.00, an additional one-third will vest and be issued if the Common Stock closing price is
greater than or equal to $150.00 and the final one-third will vest and be issued when the Common Stock closing price is greater than or equal to $175.00, in
each case over any 20 trading days within a period of 30 consecutive trading days on or before July 13, 2026. Earnout Shares are attributable to

(1) (2)
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vested WUP profits interests and restricted interests as of the date each of the Earnout Share market conditions are met. Any portion of the Earnout Shares for
which the market condition has not been met on or before July 13, 2026 will be automatically canceled.

The grant-date fair value of the Earnout Shares attributable to the holders of WUP profits interests and restricted interests, using a Monte Carlo simulation
model, was $57.9 million. The derived service period began on the Business Combination Closing Date and had a weighted-average period of 1.7 years.

Based on the Common Stock trading price as of September 30, 2025, the market conditions were not met, and no Earnout Shares vested or were issuable
as of such date. No Earnout Shares have been issued as of September  30, 2025. Compensation expense for Earnout Shares recognized in the condensed
consolidated statements of operations was nil for each of the three and nine months ended September 30, 2025 and 2024.

Treasury Stock

As of September 30, 2025, we had 1,267,117 shares of treasury stock. The increase in treasury stock during the nine months ended September 30, 2025
reflects shares of Common Stock withheld to settle employee taxes due upon the vesting of RSUs and the repurchase of 566,544 shares of Common Stock for
an aggregate amount, including commissions but excluding applicable excise taxes, of $0.6 million under the Company’s share repurchase program. We did not
cancel or reissue any shares of Common Stock held as treasury stock during each of the three and nine months ended September 30, 2025 and 2024.

11. WARRANTS

Prior to the Business Combination, Aspirational issued 7,991,544 redeemable public warrants (“Public Warrants”) and 4,529,950 redeemable private
warrants (“Private Warrants” and together with the Public Warrants, the “Warrants”), which Wheels Up assumed on the Business Combination Closing Date.
Each whole Warrant entitles the holder to purchase 1/10th share of Common Stock at a price of $115.00 per whole share of Common Stock. The Warrants
expire on July 13, 2026 or earlier upon redemption or liquidation. As of September  30, 2025, no Warrants had been exercised, and 12,521,494 Warrants
remained outstanding and exercisable for up to 1,252,149 shares of Common Stock.

12. NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS

MIP LLC is a single purpose entity formed for the purpose of administering and effectuating the award of WUP profits interests to employees, consultants
and other qualified persons prior to the Business Combination. Wheels Up is the sole managing member of MIP LLC and, as a result, consolidates the financial
results of MIP LLC. We record non-controlling interests representing the ownership interest in MIP LLC held by other members of MIP LLC. In connection
with the Business Combination, the Seventh Amended and Restated LLC Agreement of WUP was adopted, which granted MIP LLC limited liability company
interests corresponding to outstanding vested WUP profits interests that enable members of MIP LLC, subject to certain restrictions, to exchange their vested
WUP profits interests before July 13, 2031 for cash or a corresponding number of shares of Common Stock, at the option of Wheels Up, based on the value of
such WUP profits interests relative to their applicable participation threshold.

The decision of whether to exchange WUP profits interests for cash or Common Stock is made solely at the discretion of Wheels Up. Accordingly, the
WUP profits interests held by MIP LLC are treated as permanent equity and changes in the ownership interest of MIP LLC are accounted for as equity
transactions. Future exchanges of WUP profits interests, which would also reduce the WUP limited liability company interests corresponding to MIP LLC and
result in the issuance of a number of shares of Common Stock depending on the applicable participation threshold and the applicable price per share of
Common Stock, will reduce the amount recorded as Non-controlling interests and increase Additional paid-in-capital on the condensed consolidated balance
sheets.
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The calculation of Non-controlling interests was as follows:

September 30, 2025 December 31, 2024

Number of WUP common units held by Wheels Up 720,346,459 100.0 % 697,902,646 100.0 %

Number of vested WUP profits interests attributable to non-controlling
interests — — % — — %

Total WUP common units and vested WUP profits interests outstanding 720,346,459 100.0 % 697,902,646 100.0 %

__________________
(1)    WUP common units represent an equivalent ownership of Common Stock outstanding.
(2)    Based on the closing price of Common Stock on the last trading day of the period covered by this Quarterly Report, there would have been no WUP common units issuable upon conversion of

vested and unvested WUP profits interests outstanding as of September 30, 2025.

Weighted-average ownership percentages are used to allocate Net loss to Wheels Up and the non-controlling interest holders. The non-controlling interests
weighted-average ownership percentage was nil for each of the three and nine months ended September 30, 2025 and 2024.

    

13. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

The Company has contractual obligations and commitments, primarily in the form of obligations to provide future services for which we have already
received deferred revenue (see Note 2), lease arrangements (see Note 9), repayment of long-term debt (see Note 7), legal proceedings, and sales and use tax
liability.

Legal Proceedings

From time to time, the Company is subject to various legal proceedings and claims, either asserted or unasserted, which arise in the ordinary course of
business. While the outcome of these matters cannot be predicted with certainty, as of the date of this Quarterly Report the Company does not believe that the
outcome of any of these matters, individually or in the aggregate, will have a material adverse effect on its financial condition, results of operations or cash
flows.

GRP Litigation

On July 5, 2023, the Company filed a lawsuit against Exclusive Jets, LLC d/b/a flyExclusive, a subsidiary of flyExclusive, Inc. (“FE”), in the United States
District Court for the Southern District of New York (“NY Federal Court”), which was re-filed against FE in the Supreme Court of the State of New York in
New York County (“NY State Court”) on August 23, 2023. The Company instituted the action to enforce its rights and remedies for wrongful termination by
FE of the Fleet Guaranteed Revenue Program Agreement, dated November 1, 2021, between WUP and FE (the “GRP Agreement”). On June 30, 2023, FE
notified the Company in writing of its immediate termination of the GRP Agreement. The Company believes that FE wrongfully terminated such agreement in
breach thereof. The Company is seeking compensatory damages, including the return of material deposits held by FE under the GRP Agreement that were
recorded in Other non-current assets on the condensed consolidated balance sheets as of September 30, 2025 and December 31, 2024, as well as attorneys’ fees
and costs.

Following remand to the NY State Court after removal to the NY Federal Court by FE, on April 9, 2025, FE filed in the NY State Court an answer and its
defenses to the Company’s claims, as well as counterclaims for amounts it claims it is owed under the GRP Agreement. On July 23, 2025, the Company filed a
motion to amend and proposed amended complaint against FE in NY State Court (the “Amended Complaint”), which included, among other things, additional
breach of contract claims and added Thomas James Segrave Jr., FE’s founder and Chief Executive Officer, as a defendant for a claim based on piercing the
corporate veil. On September 9, 2025, FE and Mr. Segrave filed their answer and affirmative defenses to the Company’s Amended Complaint, FE reasserted
counterclaims for amounts it claims it is owed under the GRP Agreement, and FE filed a motion to dismiss on

(1)

(2)
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jurisdictional grounds, to which the Company filed its answer, defenses and opposition on October 22, 2025. The parties are actively engaged in the discovery
process.

The Company intends to vigorously pursue the action to recover the outstanding deposits and other damages from FE and defend against any related
counterclaims, but there can be no assurance as to the outcome of the dispute with FE. The Company’s success in recovering the amounts from FE will depend
on several factors, including the availability of funds by FE for the recoverable amounts. The Company is in the process of evaluating the effects of the
foregoing events and it cannot make a reasonable estimate of any outcome, recovery or loss at this time.

Sales and Use Tax Liability

The Company regularly provides services to members in various states within the continental U.S., which may create sales and use tax nexus via
temporary presence, potentially requiring the payment of these taxes. The Company determined that there is uncertainty as to what constitutes nexus in
respective states for a state to levy taxes, fees and surcharges relating to its activity. As of each of September 30, 2025 and December 31, 2024, the Company
estimated the potential exposure to such tax liability was $5.5 million, the expense for which was included in Accrued expenses on the condensed consolidated
balance sheets.

14. RELATED PARTIES

The Company engages in transactions with certain stockholders who are also members, ambassadors or customers. Such transactions primarily relate to
their membership in the Wheels Up program, flights and flight-related services.

The Company incurred expenses of nil and $0.2 million for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2025, respectively, and nil and $1.1 million for
the three and nine months ended September 30, 2024, respectively, from transactions related to the Original CCA or Amended CCA, as applicable, with Delta.
As of September 30, 2025 and December 31, 2024, $2.6 million and $2.4 million, respectively, were included in Accrued expenses and Accounts payable on
the condensed consolidated balance sheet related to transactions associated with the Original CCA and Amended CCA, as applicable, with Delta.

15. INCOME TAXES

We are subject to U.S. federal, state and local income taxes with respect to our allocable share of any taxable income or loss from WUP, as well as any
standalone income or loss Wheels Up generates. WUP is treated as a partnership for U.S. federal and most applicable state and local income tax purposes and
generally does not pay income taxes in most jurisdictions. Instead, any taxable income or loss generated by WUP is passed through to and included in the
taxable income or loss of its members, including Wheels Up. We are also subject to income taxes in the various foreign jurisdictions in which we operate.

We recorded an income tax expense of $1.3 million and $2.4 million for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2025, respectively, and income
tax expense of $0.4 million and $0.7 million for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2024, respectively. The effective tax rate was (1.6)% and
(0.9)% for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2025, respectively, and (0.7)% and (0.3)% for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2024,
respectively. Our effective tax rate for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2025 differs from the federal statutory rate of 21%, primarily due to a
full valuation allowance against the majority of our net deferred tax assets where it is more likely than not that the deferred tax assets will not be realized and
geographical mix of our earnings.

We currently expect the undistributed earnings of our foreign subsidiaries to be indefinitely reinvested. Accordingly, the Company has not provided for the
tax effect, if any, of limited outside basis differences of its foreign subsidiaries. If these foreign earnings are repatriated to the U.S., or if the Company
determines that such
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earnings are repatriated to the U.S., or if the Company determines that such earnings will be remitted in a future period, additional tax provisions may be
required.

We evaluate the realizability of our deferred tax assets on a quarterly basis and establish valuation allowances when it is more likely than not that all or a
portion of the deferred tax assets may not be realized. In making such a determination, we consider all available positive and negative evidence, including
future reversals of existing taxable temporary differences, projected future taxable income, and tax-planning strategies. As of September  30, 2025, we
concluded, based on the weight of all available positive and negative evidence, that it is more likely than not that the majority of U.S. deferred tax assets will
not be realized. Accordingly, a valuation allowance has been established on the majority of our net deferred tax assets in the U.S.

In general, under Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986 (as amended, the “Code”), a corporation that undergoes an “ownership change” is
subject to limitations on its ability to utilize its pre-change net operating losses (“NOLs”) or tax credits to offset future taxable income or taxes. As a result of
the Initial Issuance, the Company experienced an ownership change for the purpose of Section 382 of the Code during the third quarter of 2023 that will limit
the availability of our tax attributes to offset future income. Our NOLs and tax attributes are currently subject to a full valuation allowance. Accordingly, the
limitation did not have a material impact on our consolidated financial statements for each of the three and nine months ended September 30, 2025 and 2024.

The Organization for Economic Co-operation and Development has issued Pillar Two model rules introducing a new global minimum tax of 15% intended
to be effective on January 1, 2024. While the U.S. has not yet adopted the Pillar Two rules, various other governments around the world have implemented the
legislation, including jurisdictions in which certain of Wheels Up’s subsidiaries operate, and many other jurisdictions are in the process of implementing it. The
Company continues to monitor the pending implementation of Pillar Two by individual countries and the potential effects of Pillar Two on our business. The
Pillar Two rules became effective in 2024, and did not have a materially adverse impact on our results of operations, financial condition or cash flows for each
of the three and nine months ended September 30, 2025 and 2024.

On July 4, 2025, the One Big Beautiful Bill Act was signed into law in the U.S., which contains a broad range of tax reform provisions affecting
businesses. We are evaluating the full effects of the legislation on our estimated annual effective tax rate and cash tax position. Due to the full valuation
allowance, the legislation changes do not have a material impact on our financial statements for each of the three and nine months ended September 30, 2025.

Additionally, the Company is subject to the income tax effects associated with the Global Intangible Low-Taxed Income (“GILTI”) provisions and treats
the tax effects of GILTI as a current period expense in the period incurred.
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16. NET LOSS PER SHARE

The following table sets forth the computation of Basic and diluted net loss per share (in thousands, except per share data):

Three Months Ended September 30, Nine Months Ended September 30,
2025 2024 2025 2024

Numerator:
Net loss attributable to Wheels Up Experience Inc. - basic and diluted $ (83,730) $ (57,731) $ (265,342) $ (252,097)
Denominator:
Weighted-average shares of Common Stock outstanding - basic and diluted 703,813,424  697,721,699  700,889,734  697,575,821 
Basic and diluted net loss per share of Common Stock $ (0.12) $ (0.08) $ (0.38) $ (0.36)

There were no dividends declared or paid during each of the three and nine months ended September 30, 2025 and 2024.

Basic and diluted net loss per share were computed using the two-class method.

WUP profits interests held by members of MIP LLC are not subject to the net loss per share calculation until such time that vested WUP profits interests
are actually exchanged for shares of Common Stock.

The shares of Common Stock issuable under the Executive Performance Plans upon satisfaction of the performance- and service-based vesting conditions,
if at all, are not subject to the net loss per share calculation until such time that such shares of Common Stock are actually issued to the applicable grantee. The
exact number of shares of Common Stock that may be issued under the Executive Performance Plans will not be readily determinable until the first
Determination Date following a Repayment Event and at each successive Determination Date thereafter through the Final Determination Date. There can be no
assurance that both the performance- and service-based vesting conditions will be satisfied or that the foregoing variables will result in the vesting and issuance
of any shares of Common Stock pursuant to any Executive Performance Plan (see Note 10).

The following securities were not included in the computation of diluted shares outstanding, because the effect would be anti-dilutive, and issuance of such
shares is contingent upon the satisfaction of certain conditions which were not satisfied by the end of the period:

September 30,
2025 2024

Warrants 1,252,149  1,252,149 
Earnout Shares 900,000  900,000 
RSUs and PSUs 20,625,615  6,107,269 
Stock options 880,448  949,637 
Total anti-dilutive securities 23,658,212  9,209,055 

__________________
(1)    Each Warrant entitles the holder to purchase 1/10th of one share of Common Stock at a price of $115.00 per whole share of Common Stock. The number of shares of Common Stock listed in the

table above for the Warrants reflects the maximum number of shares issuable upon full exercise of all Warrants as of the end of the period (see Note 11).

(1)
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ITEM 2. MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The following management’s discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations (“MD&A”) should be read in conjunction with
our condensed consolidated financial statements and the related notes included in Part I, Item 1 “Financial Statements” of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-
Q for the three months ended September 30, 2025 (this “Quarterly Report”) and our audited consolidated financial statements included in Part II, Item 8
“Financial Statements and Supplementary Data” in our Annual  Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December  31, 2024 (“Annual Report”). This
discussion contains forward-looking statements which involve risks and uncertainties. Our actual results could differ materially from those anticipated in these
forward-looking statements. See “Cautionary Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements” included in this Quarterly Report. Unless the context otherwise
requires, references in this MD&A section to “Wheels Up,” “we,” “us,” “our,” and “the Company” are intended to mean the business and operations of
Wheels Up Experience Inc. and its consolidated subsidiaries for all periods discussed.

Overview of Our Business

Wheels Up is a leading provider of on-demand private aviation in the U.S. and one of the largest companies in the industry. Wheels Up offers a complete global
private aviation solution with a large, diverse aircraft fleet, backed by an uncompromising commitment to safety and service. Our offering is delivered through
a mix of charter and membership programs that strategically utilize our controlled aircraft fleet and global network of safety-vetted charter operators to deliver
a greater range of global travel alternatives. In addition, our first-of-its-kind partnership with Delta Air Lines, Inc. (“Delta”) provides our members and
customers with a seamless offering across both private and premium commercial travel.

We offer numerous services to our members, customers and industry partners, and generate the majority of our revenue from member and customer flights,
whether as part of Wheels Up’s membership program or charter solutions. We generate Membership revenue from fees paid for Wheels Up’s membership
program, which provides members with access to our large, diverse controlled aircraft fleet. We also generate Other revenue from primarily non-member facing
activities and services that complement our core private aviation business, including, but not limited to, group charter flights, cargo flights and special
missions. Due to the nature of the services that we provide, we have determined that we operate as one reportable segment, which is private aviation services.
Our flight operations are typically favorably affected by increased utilization of our aircraft and generally higher levels of charter activity in the summer
months and close in time to major holidays.

Wheels Up Membership. In early September 2025, we announced the Wheels Up Signature Membership, an evolution enabled by our fleet modernization
strategy that provides members access to our Bombardier Challenger 300 series and Embraer Phenom 300 series aircraft, in addition to our legacy aircraft fleet.
The Wheels Up Signature Membership is designed to give our members flexibility, certainty and premium benefits that make flying simpler and more
rewarding. Wheels Up Signature Members pay a small monthly fee and purchase a fund as an advance for the cost of future flight services and other incidental
costs, such as catering and ground transportation (“Membership Funds” and formerly referred to as “Prepaid Blocks”). The Wheels Up Signature Membership
unlocks increased flexibility, allowing our members to choose between the Dynamic Access Plan, which provides discounted, dynamically priced hourly rates,
and the Fixed Access Plan, which provides predictability and consistency in hourly rates to private fliers. Each access plan includes guaranteed availability and
recovery for flights in the Contiguous U.S., within 225 miles of the Canada and Mexico borders, and for select destinations, such as the Bahamas and Cabo San
Lucas, Mexico. Our first-of-its-kind partnership with Delta gives Wheels Up members the opportunity to earn Delta SkyMiles® Diamond Medallion® status
based on their qualifying Wheels Up spend and use Membership Funds to purchase discounted Delta flights and receive other benefits with Delta, in each case
subject to certain terms and conditions. We also continue to provide Custom Enterprise Solutions to larger corporate customers.

We continue to offer and serve members under membership programs related to our legacy aircraft fleets in accordance with their terms. We have provided
those existing members with a streamlined on-ramp to the Wheels Up Signature Membership and access to our Bombardier Challenger 300 series and Embraer
Phenom 300 series aircraft. As we continue to scale those fleets, we expect an increasing percentage of Membership Funds purchased
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by prospective and existing members will be for the Wheels Up Signature Membership product versus products focused on our legacy aircraft fleets.

Charter Up. For travelers who are looking to pay as they go, Wheels Up’s charter solutions allow members and customers to book charter trips with no
upfront costs. Wheels Up’s charter solutions are a portfolio of global solutions that leverage the capabilities of our domestic and global charter teams. We offer
options to suit virtually every charter need through our international network of trusted partners. Our charter offerings customize the member and customer
experience for short- or long-haul flights with bespoke private jet arrangements or group charters, including for commercial-size charters with large passenger
groups of 15 or more, sports teams, global corporate events and tour operations. Wheels Up’s charter solutions complement Wheels Up’s membership
programs and provide a leading solution for members and customers wishing to fly globally through attractive market-based pricing and personalized
alternatives.

Our Fleet Modernization Strategy & Progress Update. Wheels Up has one of the largest and most diverse mixes of available aircraft in the industry. We
utilize our controlled aircraft fleet to support both Wheels Up’s membership programs and charter flights depending on the specific mission. We maintain a
growing global network of safety-vetted charter operators, which must continually satisfy our safety standards for aircraft, crew and operations. Together, our
controlled aircraft fleet and global network of third-party charter operators position us to provide our members and customers the ability to select a mode of
travel that works for their specific needs.

In the first year since we announced our current fleet modernization strategy, we made substantial progress to advance our transformation, which we
expect will result in the transition from the operation of four legacy private jet models — Hawker 400XP and Cessna Citation CJ3, X and Excel/XLS aircraft
— to two different private jet models — Bombardier Challenger 300 series and Embraer Phenom 300 series aircraft, while continuing to operate a smaller King
Air 350i fleet. We introduced our first Embraer Phenom 300 series and Bombardier Challenger 300 series aircraft into our controlled fleet in November 2024
and April 2025, respectively. By the end of 2025, we expect that approximately 50% of our controlled jet fleet will consist of Bombardier Challenger 300 series
and Embraer Phenom 300 series premium aircraft.

As of September 30, 2025, our controlled aircraft fleet consisted of:

Category Owned Leased Total

Premium Jets:
   Bombardier Challenger 300/350 3 2 5
   Embraer Phenom 300/350 18 1 19
Large Jets:
   Gulfstream G-IVSP — 2 2
Super-Midsize Jets:
   Cessna Citation X — 23 23
Midsize Jets:
   Cessna Citation Excel/XLS 9 3 12
Light Jets:
   Cessna Citation CJ3 —  2 2
   Hawker 400XP 16 4 20
Total Jets 46 37 83
Turboprops 35 — 35
Total Aircraft 81 37 118

__________________
(1)    Consists of Beechcraft and Textron King Air 350i aircraft.

(1)
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To achieve our fleet transition, we expect to engage in strategic acquisitions, dispositions and leases of aircraft as we continue the orderly divestiture of
legacy private jet models and scale our premium jet fleets. In the first quarter of 2025, we sold our fleet of owned Cessna Citation X aircraft to an unrelated
third-party buyer, entered into leases for a portion of the sold aircraft and amended existing Cessna Citation X leases with the same buyer. In the second quarter
of 2025, we retired our legacy Cessna Citation CJ3 fleet from revenue service and expect to return our last leased aircraft of that model to the lessor by the end
of 2025. In the third quarter of 2025, we sold seven of our owned Hawker 400 XP aircraft to an unrelated third-party buyer and entered into short-term leases
for a portion of the aircraft sold. We believe that our cash and cash equivalents, including cash received from any sales of our owned aircraft, operating cash
flows, available borrowings under the Revolving Equipment Notes Facility (as defined below), and the execution of strategic transactions in the future, such as
potential acquisitions of private aviation operators, strategic leasing arrangements or additional debt or equity financings, will provide us the flexibility to
opportunistically transform our controlled aircraft fleet to achieve our fleet modernization strategy.

Recent Developments

Signature Membership Launch

In early September 2025, we launched the Wheels Up Signature Membership that provides our members access to our Bombardier Challenger 300 series
and Embraer Phenom 300 series aircraft, in addition to our legacy aircraft fleet. This latest membership program is a direct result of the scale we have built and
expect to continue building through execution of our fleet modernization strategy. Details about the Wheels Up Signature Membership are included under the
caption “Wheels Up Membership” above.

Update on Efficiency, Productivity and Cost Reduction Initiatives

We are in the process of implementing initiatives that are expected to drive approximately $70 million in annual cash cost savings following
implementation through the efficiency, productivity and overhead cost reduction actions associated with our fleet modernization plan and other actions over the
next several quarters. We recently identified additional cost savings opportunities expected to deliver an incremental $20 million in annual cash cost savings on
top of our original $50 million estimate announced on August 7, 2025. We anticipate that we will realize a portion of the expected savings on a rolling basis as
actions, including those described below, are taken, with the full impact of the anticipated cost savings expected to be reflected in our financial results
beginning in the third quarter of 2026 relative to a second quarter of 2025 baseline.

Our efficiency, productivity and overhead cost reduction actions are ongoing and during the third quarter of 2025 included:

• rationalizing our maintenance footprint and headcount at our Palm Beach International Airport (Florida) and Teterboro Airport (New Jersey) locations
as we continue to transition to Bombardier Challenger 300 series and Embraer Phenom 300 series aircraft that have historically been more
operationally reliable than our legacy aircraft fleets; and

• further streamlining our business by selling three non-core services businesses - Baines Simmons, Kenyon International Emergency Services and
Redline Assured Security (collectively, the “Non-Core Services Businesses”) - to an unrelated third party.

We are also in the process of unifying the Wheels Up and Air Partner brands and commercial teams, with the intent to deliver personalized service and
customer engagement across our offerings. As we work to integrate the Wheels Up and Air Partner sales teams in the coming months, we anticipate a shift to a
“trusted advisor” model selling tailored aviation solutions across our membership program, global charter and hybrid travel connected to Delta.
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At-the-Market Common Stock Offering Program

On August 29, 2025, we entered into an ATM Equity Offering  Sales Agreement (the “ATM Sales Agreement”) with BofA Securities, Inc. and Jefferies
LLC (each, a “Sales Agent” and together, the “Sales Agents”), pursuant to which we may sell, from time to time, up to an aggregate sales price of $50.0 million
of our Class A common stock, $0.0001 par value per share (“Common Stock”), through the Sales Agents (the “ATM Program”). This Quarterly Report is not an
offer to sell or the solicitation of any offer to buy shares of Common Stock under the ATM Program, nor shall there be an offer, solicitation or sale of such
shares of Common Stock in any state in which such offer, solicitation or sale would be unlawful prior to registration or qualification under the securities laws
of such state.

Key Investor Lock-Up Extension

On September 21, 2025 (the “Amendment Date”), we entered into Amendment No. 3 to Investment and Investor Rights Agreement (the “Third Investor
Rights Agreement Amendment”), with each of Delta, CK Wheels LLC (“CK Wheels”), Cox Investment Holdings, LLC (“CIH” and, collectively with Delta
and CK Wheels, the “Lead Investors”), and each of Kore Air LLC, Pandora Select Partners, L.P., Whitebox GT Fund, LP, Whitebox Multi-Strategy Partners,
L.P., Whitebox Relative Value Partners, L.P. (collectively, the “Additional Investors” and, collectively with the Lead Investors, the “Investors”), to amend and
extend, among others, certain transfer restrictions set forth in the Investor Rights Agreement, dated September 20, 2023, by and among, us and the Investors (as
amended by Amendment No. 1 thereto, dated as of November 15, 2023, as further amended by Amendment No. 2 thereto, dated as of September 22, 2024, as
further amended by the Third Investor Rights Agreement Amendment, and the joinders to such agreement, collectively, the “Investor Rights Agreement”).
Pursuant to the Third Investor Rights Agreement Amendment: (i) the Lead Investors agreed to extend the lock-up restriction applicable to all of their shares of
Common Stock issued pursuant to the Investor Rights Agreement (“Investor Shares”) through May 22, 2026 (the “Extended Lock-Up Expiration”), subject to
limited exceptions for transfers to Permitted Transferees (as defined in the Investor Rights Agreement); and (ii) the Additional Investors agreed to extend the
lock-up restriction with respect to 29% of their Investor Shares through January 2, 2026, subject to limited exceptions for transfers to Permitted Transferees;
provided, that any transfers or sales of Investor Shares held by the Additional Investors after the Amendment Date and until the Extended Lock-Up Expiration
may not occur during specified periods, are subject to certain volume limitations and may not be at a price less than the minimum price per share, in each case
as specified in the Third Investor Rights Agreement Amendment. Pursuant to the Third Investor Rights Agreement Amendment, approximately 86.4% and
83.6% of our outstanding shares of Common Stock as of the Amendment Date will remain subject to a lock-up restriction until January  2,  2026 and
May 22, 2026, respectively.

On the Amendment Date, the holders that collectively beneficially own in excess of 66.67% of the Registrable Securities (as defined in the Registration
Rights Agreement, dated as of September 20, 2023, by and among the Company and the equity holders set forth on Schedule 1 thereto) extended the deadline
by which we must file an initial shelf registration statement to register the Investor Shares under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, to May 22, 2026.

Extension of Revolving Credit Facility Availability Period

As previously announced, we entered into Amendment No. 3 to Credit Agreement, dated April 30, 2025 (the “Third Credit Agreement Amendment”), by
and among the Company, as borrower, the other Loan Parties (as defined herein) party thereto, as guarantors, Delta and the Agent (as defined herein), pursuant
to which Delta extended the period during which the $100.0  million Revolving Credit Facility (as defined herein) is available to be drawn to
September 20, 2026. As of each of September 30, 2025 and the date of this Quarterly Report, no amounts were outstanding under the Revolving Credit Facility.

SM
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Share Repurchase Program

As previously announced, on April 30, 2025, our Board of Directors (the “Board”) approved the repurchase by Wheels Up from time to time of up to $10.0
million of shares of Common Stock (the “Share Repurchase Program”). Repurchases of shares of Common Stock by us may be made from time to time at
management's discretion using a variety of methods, including open market purchases or other privately negotiated transactions. The Share Repurchase
Program has no expiration date, but may be suspended or discontinued at any time in the Board’s discretion.

Non-GAAP Financial Measures

In addition to our results of operations below, we report certain key financial measures that are not required by, or presented in accordance with, U.S.
generally accepted accounting principles (“GAAP”). These non-GAAP financial measures are in addition, and not a substitute for or superior to, measures of
financial performance prepared in accordance with GAAP and should not be considered as an alternative to any performance measures derived in accordance
with GAAP. We believe that these non-GAAP financial measures provide useful supplemental information to investors about Wheels Up. However, there are
certain limitations related to the use of these non-GAAP financial measures and their nearest GAAP measures, including that they exclude significant expenses
that are required to be recorded in Wheels Up’s financial measures under GAAP. Other companies may calculate non-GAAP financial measures differently or
may use other measures to calculate their financial performance, and therefore, our non-GAAP financial measures may not be directly comparable to similarly
titled measures of other companies. Accordingly, you are cautioned not to place undue reliance on this information.

Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDAR

We calculate Adjusted EBITDA as Net income (loss) adjusted for (i) Interest income (expense), (ii) Income tax expense, (iii) Depreciation and
amortization, (iv) Equity-based compensation expense, (v) Acquisition and integration related expenses and (vi) other items not indicative of our ongoing
operating performance, including but not limited to, restructuring charges. We calculate Adjusted EBITDAR as Adjusted EBITDA, as further adjusted for
aircraft lease costs. We include Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDAR as supplemental measures for assessing operating performance and for the
following:

• To be used in conjunction with bonus program target achievement determinations, strategic internal planning, annual budgeting, allocating resources
and making operating decisions; and

• To provide useful information for historical period-to-period comparisons of our business, as each measure removes the effect of certain non-cash
expenses and other items not indicative of our ongoing operating performance.

Adjusted EBITDAR is included as a supplemental measure, because we believe it provides an alternate presentation to adjust for the effects of financing in
general and the accounting effects of capital spending and acquisitions of aircraft, which may be acquired outright, acquired subject to acquisition debt,
including under the Revolving Equipment Notes Facility, by capital lease or by operating lease, each of which may vary significantly between periods and
results in a different accounting presentation.
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The following table reconciles Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDAR to Net loss, which is the most directly comparable GAAP measure (in
thousands):

Three Months Ended September 30, Nine Months Ended September 30,
2025 2024 2025 2024

Net loss $ (83,730) $ (57,731) $ (265,342) $ (252,097)
Add back (deduct):
Interest expense 23,510  16,041  65,474  47,263 
Interest income (631) (907) (2,615) (1,248)
Income tax expense 1,332  405  2,369  732 
Other (income) expense, net (4) 149  165  499 
Depreciation and amortization 13,926  12,484  47,626  43,472 
Change in fair value of warrant liability —  (107) —  (9)
Gain on divestiture (1,833) —  (1,833) (3,403)
(Gain) loss on disposal of assets, net (480) (70) (3,749) 1,757 
Equity-based compensation expense 12,499  7,885  33,455  33,364 
Integration and transformation expense 2,866  —  4,232  — 
Fleet modernization expense 8,697  —  21,816  — 
Restructuring charges —  970  —  7,485 
Atlanta Member Operations Center set-up expense —  —  —  3,481 
Certificate consolidation expense —  1,143  —  5,955 
Other 624  (244) 21,991  6,183 
Adjusted EBITDA $ (23,224) $ (19,982) $ (76,411) $ (106,566)
Aircraft lease costs 3,573  8,387  12,849  25,127 
Adjusted EBITDAR $ (19,651) $ (11,595) $ (63,562) $ (81,439)

__________________
(1) Consists of expenses associated with the Company’s global integration efforts, including charges for employee separation programs and third-party advisor costs.
(2) Consists of expenses incurred in connection with the execution of our fleet modernization strategy first announced in October 2024, which primarily includes expenses associated with

transitioning our Bombardier Challenger 300 series and Embraer Phenom 300 series aircraft to our operations and pilot training programs aligned to our fleet modernization strategy, as well as
certain cash and non-cash costs incurred associated with exiting legacy private jet models.

(3) Includes charges for contract termination fees and employee separation programs as part of our cost reduction and strategic business initiatives.
(4) Consists of expenses associated with establishing our Member Operations Center located in the Atlanta, Georgia area (“Atlanta Member Operations Center”) and its operations primarily

including redundant operating expenses during the transition period, relocation expenses for employees and costs associated with onboarding new employees. The Atlanta Member Operations
Center began operating on May 15, 2023.

(5) Consists of expenses incurred to execute the consolidation of our U.S. Federal Aviation Administration (“FAA”) operating certificates, primarily related to pilot training and retention programs,
and consultancy fees associated with planning and implementing the consolidation process.

(6) For the nine months ended September 30, 2025, primarily includes a one-time $20.2 million non-cash pre-tax right-of-use asset impairment charge associated with vacating our former New York
City corporate office space for a smaller, centralized location and related on-going lease costs for the vacated space while we seek a sublease tenant. For the three and nine months ended
September 30, 2024, includes (i) collections of certain aged receivables which were added back to Net loss in the reconciliation presented for the twelve months ended December 31, 2022,
(ii) reserves and/or write-off of certain aged receivables associated with the aircraft management business which was divested on September 30, 2023, (iii) expenses associated with litigation
matters and (iv) amounts reserved during the second quarter of 2024 related to Parts and supplies inventory deemed in excess after revision of future business needs associated with strategic
business initiatives.

(7) Aircraft lease costs are reflected in Cost of revenue on the condensed consolidated statement of operations for the applicable period.

(1)

(2)

(3)

(4)

(5)

(6)

(7)
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Adjusted Contribution and Adjusted Contribution Margin

We calculate Adjusted Contribution as Gross profit (loss) excluding Depreciation and amortization and adjusted further for equity-based compensation
included in Cost of revenue and other items included in Cost of revenue that are not indicative of our ongoing operating performance. Adjusted Contribution
Margin is calculated by dividing Adjusted Contribution by total revenue. We include Adjusted Contribution and Adjusted Contribution Margin as supplemental
measures for assessing operating performance and for the following:

• To be used to understand our ability to achieve profitability over time through scale and leveraging costs; and

• To provide useful information for historical period-to-period comparisons of our business and to identify trends.

The following table reconciles Adjusted Contribution to Gross profit (loss), which is the most directly comparable GAAP measure (in thousands):

Three Months Ended September 30, Nine Months Ended September 30,
2025 2024 2025 2024

Revenue $ 185,486  $ 193,903  $ 552,653  $ 587,289 
Less: Cost of revenue (172,878) (166,859) (505,257) (556,809)
Less: Depreciation and amortization (13,926) (12,484) (47,626) (43,472)
Gross profit (loss) (1,318) 14,560  (230) (12,992)
Gross margin (0.7)% 7.5% —% (2.2)%
Add back (deduct):
Depreciation and amortization 13,926  12,484  47,626  43,472 
Equity-based compensation expense in Cost of revenue 24  535  202  2,097 
Integration and transformation expense in Cost of revenue 2,523  —  2,886  — 
Fleet modernization expense in Cost of revenue 8,681  —  19,463  — 
Restructuring charges in Cost of revenue —  172  —  3,875 
Atlanta Member Operations Center set-up expense in Cost of revenue —  —  —  1,860 
Certificate consolidation expense in Cost of revenue —  1,032  —  4,503 
Other in Cost of revenue (336) (25) (936) 3,256 
Adjusted Contribution $ 23,500  $ 28,758  $ 69,011  $ 46,071 
Adjusted Contribution Margin 12.7% 14.8% 12.5% 7.8%

__________________
(1) Consists of expenses associated with the Company’s global integration efforts including charges for employee separation programs.
(2) Consists of expenses incurred in connection with the execution of our fleet modernization strategy first announced in October 2024, which primarily includes expenses associated with

transitioning our Bombardier Challenger 300 series and Embraer Phenom 300 series aircraft to our operations and pilot training programs aligned to our fleet modernization strategy, as well as
certain cash and non-cash costs incurred associated with exiting legacy private jet models.

(3) Primarily includes charges for employee separation programs as part of our ongoing cost reduction and strategic business initiatives.
(4) Consists of expenses associated with establishing the Atlanta Member Operations Center and its operations primarily including redundant operating expenses during the transition period,

relocation expenses for employees and costs associated with onboarding new employees. The Atlanta Member Operations Center began operating on May 15, 2023.
(5) Consists of expenses incurred to execute the consolidation of our FAA operating certificates, primarily including pilot training and retention programs and consultancy fees associated with

planning and implementing the consolidation process.
(6) Consists of amounts recovered on Parts and supplies inventory reserved during prior periods related to Parts and supplies inventory deemed in excess after revision of future business needs

associated with strategic business initiatives, including fleet modernization.

(1)

(2)

(3)

(4)

(5)

(6)
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Key Operating Metrics

In addition to financial measures, we regularly review certain key operating metrics to evaluate our business, determine the allocation of resources and
make decisions regarding business strategies. We believe that these metrics can be useful for understanding the underlying trends in our business.

The following table summarizes our key operating metrics:

Three Months Ended September 30,
2025 2024 % Change

Total Gross Bookings $ 266,627  $ 255,102  5 %

Private Jet Gross Bookings $ 209,695  $ 204,289  3 %

Live Flight Legs 11,593  12,776  (9)%

Private Jet Gross Bookings per Live Flight Leg $ 18,088  $ 15,990  13 %

Utility 43.1  38.1  13 %

Completion Rate 99 % 98 % 1 pp

On-Time Performance (D-60) 89 % 85 % 4 pp
Nine Months Ended September 30,

2025 2024 % Change

Total Gross Bookings $ 770,477  $ 729,965  6 %

Private Jet Gross Bookings $ 623,314  $ 597,738  4 %

Live Flight Legs 34,459  37,385  (8)%

Private Jet Gross Bookings per Live Flight Leg $ 18,089  $ 15,989  13 %
__________________
(1)    Amount shown in thousands.
(2)    For the three months ended September 30, 2025, Utility for the Embraer Phenom 300 series, Bombardier Challenger 300 series and legacy fleet aircraft in our controlled fleet were 56, 53 and 40

hours, respectively. We did not have any Embraer Phenom 300 series or Bombardier Challenger 300 series aircraft in our controlled fleet during the three months ended September 30, 2024, and
Utility for that period reflects the legacy fleet aircraft that we operated during that period.

Total Gross Bookings and Private Jet Gross Bookings

We define Total Gross Bookings as the total gross spend by our members and customers on all private jet flight services under our membership program
and charter offerings, all group charter flights, which are charter flights with 15 or more passengers (“Group Charter Flights”), and all cargo flight services
(“Cargo Services”). We believe Total Gross Bookings provides useful information about the scale of the overall global aviation solutions that we provide our
members and customers.

We define Private Jet Gross Bookings as the total gross spend by our members and customers on all private jet flight services under our membership
program and charter offerings (excluding Group Charter Flights and Cargo

(1)

(1)

(2)

(1)

(1)
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Services). We believe Private Jet Gross Bookings provides useful information about the aggregate amount our members and customers spend with Wheels Up
versus our competitors.

For each of Total Gross Bookings and Private Jet Gross Bookings, the total gross spend by our members and customers is the amount invoiced to the
member or customer and includes the cost of the flight and related services, such as catering, ground transportation, certain taxes, fees and surcharges. We use
Total Gross Bookings and Private Jet Gross Bookings to provide useful information for historical period-to-period comparisons of our business and to identify
trends, including relative to our competitors. Our calculation of Total Gross Bookings and Private Jet Gross Bookings may not be comparable to similarly titled
measures reported by other companies.

Live Flight Legs

We define Live Flight Legs as the number of completed one-way revenue generating private jet flight legs in the applicable period, excluding empty
repositioning legs and owner legs related to aircraft under management. We believe Live Flight Legs is a useful metric to measure the scale and usage of our
platform, and our ability to generate Flight revenue.

Private Jet Gross Bookings per Live Flight Leg

We use Private Jet Gross Bookings per Live Flight Leg to measure the average gross spend by our members and customers on all private jet flight services
under our membership program and charter offerings (excluding Group Charter Flights and Cargo Services) for each Live Flight Leg.

Utility

We define Utility for the applicable period as the total revenue generating flight hours flown on our controlled aircraft fleet, excluding empty repositioning
legs, divided by the monthly average number of available aircraft in our controlled aircraft fleet. Utility is expressed as a monthly average. We measure the
revenue generating flight hours for a given flight on our controlled aircraft as the actual flight time from takeoff to landing. We determine the number of
aircraft in our controlled aircraft fleet available for revenue generating flights at the end of the applicable month and exclude aircraft then classified as held for
sale. We use Utility to measure the efficiency of our operations, our ability to generate a return on our assets and the impact of our fleet modernization strategy.

Completion Rate

We define Completion Rate as the percentage of total scheduled flights operated and completed, excluding customer-initiated flight cancellations.

On-Time Performance (D-60)

We define On-Time Performance (D-60) as the percentage of total flights flown that departed within 60 minutes of the scheduled time, inclusive of air
traffic control, weather, maintenance and customer delays, excluding all cancelled flights.

Beginning with the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the three months ended March 31, 2025, we changed the presentation of Completion
Rate and On-Time Performance (D-60) to include wholesale flights, which we believe better aligns those metrics to information that we use internally to
evaluate our operations and reported Live Flight Legs, which includes wholesale flights. Completion Rate and On-Time Performance (D-60) for the three and
nine months ended September 30, 2025 and 2024 reported in the table above includes wholesale flights, which were previously excluded from such metrics in
the Company’s filings with the SEC beginning with the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the three months ended March 31, 2024 through and
including our Annual Report. Completion Rate and On-Time Performance (D-60) reported in the Company’s previously filed Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q
for the three months ended September 30, 2024, which excluded wholesale flight activity, were 98% and 82%, respectively.
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Results of Operations

Results of Operations for the Three Months Ended September 30, 2025 Compared to the Three Months Ended September 30, 2024

The following table sets forth our results of operations for each of the three months ended September 30, 2025 and 2024 (in thousands):

Three Months Ended September 30, Change in
2025 2024 $ %

Revenue $ 185,486  $ 193,903  $ (8,417) (4)%

Costs and expenses:
Cost of revenue (exclusive of items shown separately below) 172,878  166,859  6,019  4 %
Technology and development 10,170  9,594  576  6 %
Sales and marketing 22,084  20,029  2,055  10 %
General and administrative 31,982  27,058  4,924  18 %
Depreciation and amortization 13,926  12,484  1,442  12 %
Gain on sale of aircraft (3,737) (190) (3,547) n/m
(Gain) loss on disposal of assets, net (480) (70) (410) n/m

Total costs and expenses 246,823  235,764  11,059  5 %

Loss from operations (61,337) (41,861) (19,476) (47)%

Other income (expense)
Gain on divestiture 1,833  —  1,833  n/m
Loss on extinguishment of debt (19) (289) 270  n/m
Change in fair value of warrant liability —  107  (107) n/m
Interest income 631  907  (276) (30)%
Interest expense (23,510) (16,041) (7,469) 47 %
Other income (expense), net 4  (149) 153  n/m

Total other income (expense) (21,061) (15,465) (5,596) 36 %

Loss before income taxes (82,398) (57,326) (25,072) (44)%

Income tax expense (1,332) (405) (927) n/m

Net loss (83,730) (57,731) (25,999) (45)%
Less: Net loss attributable to non-controlling interests —  —  —  — %
Net loss attributable to Wheels Up Experience Inc. $ (83,730) $ (57,731) $ (25,999) (45)%

__________________
n/m    Not meaningful
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Revenue

Revenue decreased for the three months ended September 30, 2025 compared to the three months ended September 30, 2024, as follows (in thousands).

Three Months Ended September 30, Change in
2025 2024 $ %

Membership $ 6,313  $ 13,231  $ (6,918) (52)%
Flight 155,169  155,355  (186) (0.1)%
Other 24,004  25,317  (1,313) (5)%
Total $ 185,486  $ 193,903  $ (8,417) (4)%

The decrease in Membership revenue was primarily driven by a decrease in members year-over-year due largely to streamlining our membership offering
and shifting less frequent fliers to our charter offerings.

Flight revenue was relatively flat year-over-year, as the $14.4 million reduction attributable to a 9% decrease in Live Flight Legs year-over-year was
substantially offset by a $14.2 million increase attributable to a 10% increase in Flight revenue per Live Flight Leg as a result of a greater mix of flights on
larger and premium jets generally associated with higher hourly rates.

The decrease in Other revenue was primarily attributable to the absence of $1.4 million of residual aircraft management revenue. We divested the aircraft
management business on September 30, 2023.

Cost of Revenue

Cost of revenue increased by $6.0 million, or 4%, for the three months ended September 30, 2025 compared to the three months ended September 30,
2024. The increase was primarily driven by a $11.3 million increase in third party operator spend, $8.7 million of one-time expenses related to certain costs
incurred associated with exiting legacy private jet models, $2.4 million of headcount reduction costs aligned with our cost savings initiatives implemented in
the third quarter of 2025 and a $2.3 million increase in non-cash charges related to the reserve for certain parts inventory deemed obsolete or in excess of
forecasted demand for aircraft maintenance. The increases were partially offset by a $4.8 million decrease in aircraft lease costs, and a $3.5 million reduction in
fuel cost and $2.0 million reduction in pilot travel costs, both driven by lower flight activity on our controlled fleet, and the absence of $1.0 million in FAA
certificate consolidation-related expenses incurred in the third quarter of 2024.

Adjusted Contribution Margin decreased 210 basis points for the three months ended September 30, 2025 compared to the three months ended September
30, 2024, primarily attributable to the realization of cost savings as a result of restructuring actions taken during fiscal year 2024 and other discrete cost and
operational efficiency measures. See “Non-GAAP Financial Measures” above for a definition of Adjusted Contribution Margin, information regarding our use
of Adjusted Contribution Margin and a reconciliation of Gross profit and Adjusted Contribution to Revenue.

Other Operating Expenses

Technology and Development

Technology and development expenses increased by $0.6 million, or 6%, for the three months ended September 30, 2025 compared to the three months
ended September 30, 2024, primarily attributable to a higher mix of costs expensed in the period that were not eligible for capitalization, which resulted in a
$1.3 million increase in expenses during the period. The increase was partially offset by a net $1.1 million decrease in enterprise software and other IT-related
spend as a result of cost and operational efficiency actions.
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Sales and Marketing

Sales and marketing expenses increased by $2.1 million, or 10%, for the three months ended September 30, 2025 compared to the three months ended
September 30, 2024, primarily attributable to a $0.9 million increase in employee compensation and allocable costs due to increased headcount and a $0.9
million increase in events-related spend.

General and Administrative

General and administrative expenses increased by $4.9 million, or 18%, for the three months ended September 30, 2025 compared to the three months
ended September 30, 2024, attributable to a $4.8 million increase in equity-based compensation expense related to the Executive Performance Awards and
RSUs (each as defined in Note 10).

Depreciation and Amortization

Depreciation and amortization expenses increased $1.4 million, or 12%, for the three months ended September 30, 2025 compared to the three months
ended September 30, 2024, primarily attributable to aircraft purchases as we execute our fleet modernization strategy.

Interest Income

Interest income decreased $0.3 million for the three months ended September 30, 2025 compared to the three months ended September 30, 2024, primarily
driven by a decrease in cash equivalents held in money market funds and lower interest rates versus the prior year period.

Interest Expense

Interest expense increased $7.5 million, or 47%, for the three months ended September 30, 2025 compared to the three months ended September 30, 2024,
primarily attributable to paid-in-kind interest expense associated with the Term Loan and Credit Support Premium (as each is defined below).

Other Expense, Net

Other expense, net was relatively consistent for the three months ended September 30, 2025 compared to the three months ended September 30, 2024.
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Results of Operations for the Nine Months Ended September 30, 2025 compared to the Nine Months Ended September 30, 2024

The following table sets forth our results of operations for each of the nine months ended September 30, 2025 and 2024 (in thousands):

Nine Months Ended September 30, Change in
2025 2024 $ %

Revenue $ 552,653  $ 587,289  $ (34,636) (6)%

Costs and expenses:
Cost of revenue (exclusive of items shown separately
below) 505,257  556,809  (51,552) (9)%
Technology and development 30,052  31,204  (1,152) (4)%
Sales and marketing 68,630  62,946  5,684  9 %
General and administrative 119,031  99,244  19,787  20 %
Depreciation and amortization 47,626  43,472  4,154  10 %
Gain on sale of aircraft (12,491) (2,680) (9,811) n/m
(Gain) loss on disposal of assets, net (3,749) 1,757  (5,506) n/m

Total costs and expenses 754,356  792,752  (38,396) (5)%

Loss from operations (201,703) (205,463) 3,760  2 %

Other income (expense)
Gain on divestiture 1,833  3,403  (1,570) n/m
Loss on extinguishment of debt (79) (2,800) 2,721  n/m
Change in fair value of warrant liability —  9  (9) n/m
Interest income 2,615  1,248  1,367  110 %
Interest expense (65,474) (47,263) (18,211) 39 %
Other income (expense), net (165) (499) 334  n/m

Total other income (expense) (61,270) (45,902) (15,368) 33 %

Loss before income taxes (262,973) (251,365) (11,608) (5)%

Income tax expense (2,369) (732) (1,637) n/m

Net loss (265,342) (252,097) (13,245) (5)%
Less: Net loss attributable to non-controlling interests —  —  —  — %
Net loss attributable to Wheels Up Experience Inc. $ (265,342) $ (252,097) $ (13,245) (5)%

__________________
n/m    Not meaningful
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Revenue

Revenue decreased for the nine months ended September 30, 2025, compared to the nine months ended September 30, 2024, as follows (in thousands).

Nine Months Ended September 30, Change in

2025 2024 $ %

Membership $ 22,976  $ 46,131  $ (23,155) (50)%
Flight 461,067  469,968  (8,901) (2)%
Other 68,610  71,190  (2,580) (4)%
Total $ 552,653  $ 587,289  $ (34,636) (6)%

The decrease in Membership revenue was primarily driven by a decrease in members year-over-year as a result of streamlining our membership offering
and shifting less frequent fliers to our charter offerings.

The decrease in Flight revenue was primarily driven by a $36.8 million reduction attributable to an 8% decrease in Live Flight Legs year-over-year, which
was partially offset by a $27.9 million increase attributable to a 6% increase in Flight Revenue per Live Flight Leg as a result of a greater mix of flights on
larger and premium jets generally associated with higher hourly rates.

The decrease in Other revenue was primarily attributable to the absence of $7.6 million of residual aircraft management revenue. The decrease was also
attributable to a $2.4 million decrease in ground services revenue following the sale of our fixed-base operator activities in the first quarter of 2025 and a $1.2
million decrease in sales of inventory aircraft following our decision to reduce our focus on whole aircraft sales after the first quarter of 2024. The decreases
were partially offset by higher revenue from group charter and cargo flights.

Cost of Revenue

Cost of revenue decreased by $51.6 million, or 9%, for the nine months ended September 30, 2025 compared to the nine months ended September 30,
2024. In addition to the general decrease attributable to the decrease in Flight and Other revenue noted above, the decrease in Cost of revenue was primarily
driven by the realization of the benefits of our cost and operational efficiency actions, including a $26.2 million reduction in employee compensation and
allocable costs driven by reduced headcount, inclusive of the absence of $3.9 million of restructuring charges associated with certain actions taken during the
second quarter of 2024, a $12.4 million decrease in fuel cost due in part to lower fuel prices, a $12.3 million decrease in aircraft lease costs and a $6.7 million
reduction in pilot travel costs. The decrease is also attributable to the absence of $4.5 million in FAA certificate consolidation-related expense in the first nine
months of 2024 and $1.9 million incurred in 2024 related to establishing our Atlanta Member Operations Center. The decreases were partially offset by $19.5
million of expenses related to our fleet modernization strategy, a $13.4 million increase in third party operator spend, and a $2.4 million of headcount reduction
costs aligned with our cost and operational efficiency initiatives announced in the third quarter of 2025.

Adjusted Contribution Margin increased 470 basis points for the nine months ended September 30, 2025 compared to the nine months ended September
30, 2024, primarily attributable to the realization of cost savings as a result of restructuring actions taken during fiscal year 2024 and the nine months ended
September 30, 2025, and other discrete cost and operational efficiency measures. See “Non-GAAP Financial Measures” above for a definition of Adjusted
Contribution Margin, information regarding our use of Adjusted Contribution Margin and a reconciliation of Gross profit and Adjusted Contribution to
Revenue.
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Other Operating Expenses

Technology and Development

Technology and development expenses decreased by $1.2 million, or 4%, for the nine months ended September 30, 2025 compared to the nine months
ended September 30, 2024, primarily attributable to a $2.7 million decrease in enterprise software and other IT-related spend as a result of cost and operational
efficiency actions. The decrease was partially offset by a higher mix of costs expensed in the period that were not eligible for capitalization, which resulted in a
$1.6 million increase in expenses during the period.

Sales and Marketing

Sales and marketing expenses increased by $5.7 million, or 9%, for the nine months ended September 30, 2025 compared to the nine months ended
September 30, 2024, primarily attributable to a $4.5 million increase in employee compensation and allocable costs due to increased headcount and a
$2.7 million increase in advertising, media and marketing events-related spend. The increases were partially offset by the absence of a $1.6 million one-time
charge to terminate a consultancy agreement during the first quarter of 2024 and a $0.6 million reduction in spend on marketing flights and partnership-related
expenses.

General and Administrative

General and administrative expenses increased by $19.8 million, or 20%, for the nine months ended September 30, 2025 compared to the nine months
ended September 30, 2024, primarily driven by a by a one-time $20.2 million non-cash, pre-tax right-of-use asset impairment charge associated with vacating
our former New York City corporate office space during the three months ended March 31, 2025 (see Note 9) and a $1.3 million increase in equity-based
compensation expense related to the Executive Performance Awards and RSUs (each as defined in Note 10). The increase was partially offset by the absence of
a $1.3 million charge to bad debt expense associated with certain aged receivables related to the aircraft management business sold in the third quarter of 2023
that were recorded during first quarter of 2024, a $1.4 million reduction in consulting spend and the absence of $1.0  million in spend related to strategic
planning activities in the prior year period.

Depreciation and Amortization

Depreciation and amortization expenses increased $4.2 million, or 10%, for the nine months ended September 30, 2025 compared to the nine months
ended September 30, 2024, primarily driven by a one-time impairment of certain leasehold improvements and furniture and fixtures associated with vacating
our former New York City corporate office space (see Note 9). The increase was also driven by aircraft purchases as we execute our fleet modernization
strategy.

Interest Income

Interest income increased by $1.4 million, for the nine months ended September 30, 2025 compared to the nine months ended September 30, 2024,
primarily driven by an increase in the average amount of cash equivalents held in money market funds versus the prior year period.

Interest Expense

Interest expense increased $18.2 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2025 compared to the nine months ended September 30, 2024, primarily
attributable to paid-in-kind interest expense associated with the Term Loan and Credit Support Premium (each as defined below).

Other Expense, Net

Other expense, net was relatively consistent for nine months ended September 30, 2025 compared to the nine months ended September 30, 2024.
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Liquidity and Capital Resources

Overview and Liquidity Outlook

Our principal sources of liquidity have historically consisted of financing activities, including proceeds from debt financing transactions and the
ATM Program, and operating activities, primarily from deferred revenue associated with the sale of Membership Funds. As of September 30, 2025, we had
$125.3 million of Cash and cash equivalents and $30.5 million of Restricted cash, and our long-term debt obligations consisted primarily of approximately
$282.4 million aggregate principal amount outstanding of Revolving Equipment Notes (as defined below) and approximately $484.2 million aggregate
principal amount outstanding under the Term Loan (as defined below), inclusive of capitalized paid-in-kind interest and approximately $7.0 million aggregate
principal amount outstanding in connection with the Credit Support Premium (as defined below) portion of the Revolving Credit Facility (as defined below). In
addition, we had a working capital deficit of $639.2 million as of September 30, 2025, and Net cash used in operating activities was $147.9 million for the nine
months ended September 30, 2025. See the caption titled “Our obligations in connection with our contractual agreements, including operating leases and debt
financing obligations, could impair our liquidity and thereby harm our business, results of operations and financial condition” in Part I, Item 1A “Risk Factors”
in our Annual Report for more information about our contractual obligations.

Pursuant to the Credit Agreement (as defined below), Delta has provided a commitment for the Revolving Credit Facility in the aggregate original
principal amount of $100.0 million, which may be drawn under certain circumstances and is subject to liquidity-driven repayment conditions. As of each of
September 30, 2025 and the date of this Quarterly Report, no amounts were outstanding under the Revolving Credit Facility with respect to Delta’s $100.0
million commitment, which remains available to be drawn through September 20, 2026. See “Sources and Uses of Liquidity—Long-Term Debt—Term Loan
and Revolving Credit Facility” below for more information about the Revolving Credit Facility.

We expect to meet our liquidity needs for the next 12 months with a combination of cash and cash equivalents, cash flows from operations, strategic
dispositions of underutilized assets, proceeds from borrowings under the Revolving Equipment Notes, if needed and depending on market conditions, sales of
shares of Common Stock under the ATM Program or other equity financings, and, if needed and to the extent available to be drawn, borrowings under the
Revolving Credit Facility with respect to Delta’s $100.0 million commitment. Our ability to satisfy our long-term liquidity needs will depend on, among others,
our ability to generate cash flows from operations and enter into additional or alternate financing arrangements.

Sources and Uses of Liquidity

Long-Term Debt

The terms of our material long-term debt arrangements are summarized below. See Note 7, Long-Term Debt in the Notes to Condensed Consolidated
Financial Statements included in Part I, Item 1 “Financial Statements” in this Quarterly Report for more information about the Revolving Equipment Notes,
Credit Support Premium, Term Loan and Revolving Credit Facility (as each term is defined below).

Revolving Equipment Notes Facility

In November 2024, Wheels Up Partners LLC, an indirect subsidiary of the Company (“WUP LLC”), entered into a Note Purchase Agreement, dated as of
November 13, 2024 (the “Initial Revolving Equipment Notes Closing Date” and such agreement, the “2024 Note Purchase Agreement”), with Wilmington
Trust, National Association, as subordination agent and trustee, and Wheels Up Class A-1 Loan Trust 2024-1, a Delaware statutory trust (the “2024-1 Trust”),
which provides for the revolving issuance from time to time by WUP LLC of Series A-1 equipment notes (the “Revolving Equipment Notes”) in an aggregate
principal amount up to $332.0  million (the “Revolving Equipment Notes Facility”). The Revolving Equipment Notes mature on November 13, 2029 (the
“Revolving Equipment Notes Maturity Date”). The Revolving Equipment Notes bear interest at the variable rate of the then applicable three-month secured
overnight funds rate (“SOFR”) plus 1.75% per annum on and after the Initial Revolving Equipment Notes Closing Date and to November  13,  2027 (the
“Availability Period”), SOFR plus
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2.25% immediately after the end of the Availability Period to November 13, 2028, and SOFR plus 2.75% from November 13, 2028 to the Revolving
Equipment Notes Maturity Date, with annual amortization of principal amount equal to 10% per annum through the end of the Availability Period and 12% per
annum thereafter to the Revolving Equipment Notes Maturity Date. Interest on the Revolving Equipment Notes is payable quarterly on February 15, May 15,
August 15 and November 15 of each year, which began on February 15, 2025, and on the Revolving Equipment Notes Maturity Date. Principal payments on
the Revolving Equipment Notes are scheduled for payment on the same dates as interest payments. WUP LLC must also pay a customary commitment fee on
unused amounts available to be borrowed under the Revolving Equipment Note Facility.

Pursuant to the 2024 Note Purchase Agreement, any amounts of principal repaid by WUP LLC prior to the Availability Period, either through regular
principal amortization payments or from the early redemption of principal amounts related to any aircraft secured by the Revolving Equipment Notes Facility,
will become available to be reborrowed by WUP LLC for the purchase of additional aircraft to be secured by such facility during the Availability Period,
subject to certain conditions. WUP  LLC may redeem any Revolving Equipment Note in connection with the sale of an aircraft that constitutes Revolving
Equipment Notes Collateral (as defined in Note 7, Long-Term Debt in the Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements) or otherwise, at any time,
and is not required to pay any prepayment premiums in connection with such early redemptions.

During the nine months ended September  30, 2025, WUP LLC redeemed in-full the Revolving Equipment Notes for 19 aircraft, which reduced the
aggregate principal amount outstanding under the Revolving Equipment Notes Facility by $45.3 million, and issued new Revolving Equipment Notes for four
aircraft in the aggregate principal amount of $33.9 million. As of September 30, 2025, approximately $282.4 million aggregate principal amount of Revolving
Equipment Notes were outstanding, approximately $49.6 million was available to be borrowed under the Revolving Equipment Notes Facility to fund future
aircraft acquisitions and the carrying value of the 81 aircraft that were subject to first-priority liens under outstanding Revolving Equipment Notes was $292.9
million.

Credit Support

In connection with the initial closing of the Revolving Equipment Notes Facility, Delta agreed to provide credit support for the Revolving Equipment
Notes Facility, which effectively guarantees WUP LLC’s payment obligations thereunder upon the occurrence and continuation of specified events of default,
in exchange for an annual fee as a percentage of the aggregate principal amounts drawn under the Revolving Equipment Notes Facility that is payable-in-kind
by the Company and accrues interest over the life of the Revolving Equipment Notes Facility (the “Credit Support Premium”). The Credit Support Premium
constitutes a revolving loan payable to Delta under the Revolving Credit Facility. Amounts in respect of the Credit Support Premium accrue while the
Revolving Equipment Notes are outstanding and include interest that is compounded and capitalized on the last day of each calendar quarter; however, any
such accrued amounts do not reduce Delta’s $100.0 million commitment available to be borrowed by the Company from time to time under the Revolving
Credit Facility. The Credit Support Premium will become due and payable in-full upon the earlier of repayment and extinguishment of the Revolving
Equipment Note Facility and the termination of Delta’s obligation to provide credit support for the Revolving Equipment Notes Facility.

Term Loan & Revolving Credit Facility

The Company is party to a Credit Agreement, dated as of September 20, 2023 (as amended by Amendment No. 1 thereto, dated as of November 15, 2023,
as further amended by Amendment No. 2 thereto, dated as of November 13, 2024, and as further amended by the Third Credit Agreement Amendment, the
“Credit Agreement”), by and among the Company, as borrower, certain subsidiaries of the Company, as guarantors (collectively with the Company, the “Loan
Parties”), Delta, CK Wheels LLC, Cox Investment Holdings LLC and certain other lenders party thereto from time to time (collectively, the “Lenders”), and
U.S. Bank Trust Company, N.A., as administrative agent for the Lenders and as collateral agent for the secured parties (the “Agent”), pursuant to which as of
September 30, 2025 (i) the Lenders have provided a term loan facility (the “Term Loan”) in the aggregate original principal amount of $390.0 million and (ii)
Delta has provided a commitment for a revolving loan facility (the
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“Revolving Credit Facility” and together with the Term Loan, the “Credit Facility”) in the aggregate original principal amount of $100.0  million, which
remains available to be drawn through September 20, 2026.

The scheduled maturity date for the Term Loan is September 20, 2028, and the scheduled maturity date for the Revolving Credit Facility is the earlier of
September 20, 2028 and the first date after September 20, 2026 on which all amounts owed under the Revolving Credit Facility have been repaid, subject in
each case to earlier termination upon acceleration or termination of any obligations upon the occurrence and continuation of an event of default. Interest on the
Term Loan and any borrowings under the Revolving Credit Facility (each, a “Loan” and, collectively, the “Loans”) accrues at a rate of 10% per annum on the
unpaid principal balance of the Loans then outstanding. Accrued interest on each Loan is payable-in-kind as compounded interest and capitalized to the
principal amount of the applicable Loan on the last day of each of March, June, September and December each year, and the applicable maturity date.

As part of the Credit Facility, Delta has provided a commitment for the Revolving Credit Facility in the aggregate original principal amount of $100.0
million under the Credit Agreement. The $100.0 million commitment from Delta is separate and apart from the portion with respect to the Credit Support
Premium. The Company may request to make borrowings under the Revolving Credit Facility at any time through September 20, 2026 in an amount and to the
extent that after giving pro forma effect to any borrowing thereunder, the Company’s Unrestricted Cash Amount (as defined in the Credit Agreement) will not
exceed $100.0 million. The Company generally must promptly repay any borrowings under the Revolving Credit Facility prior to maturity as follows: (i) at any
time prior to September 20, 2026, to the extent the Unrestricted Cash Amount (as defined in the Credit Agreement) is greater than $100.0 million and (ii) on or
after September 20, 2026 but prior to maturity, to the extent that the Unrestricted Cash Amount (as defined in the Credit Agreement) is greater than $125.0
million and if Consolidated Cash Flow (as defined in the Credit Agreement) has been positive for any fiscal quarter since September 20, 2023. As of each of
September  30, 2025 and the date of this Quarterly Report, no amounts were outstanding under the Revolving Credit Facility with respect to Delta’s
$100.0 million commitment.

At-the-Market Common Stock Offering Program

On August 29, 2025, the Company entered into the ATM Sales Agreement with the Sales Agents, pursuant to which the Company may sell, from time to
time, up to an aggregate sales price of $50.0 million of Common Stock under the ATM Program. During the three months ended September 30, 2025, the
Company issued 21,157,534 shares of Common Stock under the ATM Program for $49.4 million in aggregate gross proceeds, resulting in aggregate net
proceeds to the Company of approximately $47.6 million after deducting sales commissions.
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Cash Flows

The following table summarizes our cash flows for each of the nine months ended September 30, 2025 and 2024 (in thousands):

Nine Months Ended September 30,
2025 2024

Net cash used in operating activities $ (147,926) $ (115,814)
Net cash provided by investing activities $ 43,384  $ 26,058 
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities $ 11,376  $ (52,961)
Effect of exchange rate changes on Cash and cash equivalents and Restricted cash $ 2,476  $ (1,274)
Net decrease in Cash and Cash equivalents and Restricted cash $ (90,690) $ (143,991)

Cash Flow from Operating Activities

The cash outflow from operating activities consisted of our Net loss during the respective periods, net of non-cash items of $135.7 million and $106.5
million during the nine months ended September 30, 2025 and 2024, respectively, and the balance from a general decrease in net operating assets and
liabilities. During the nine months ended September 30, 2025, we sold $387.9 million of Membership Funds, which was a 4% decrease from the $405.3 million
of Membership Funds sold during the nine months ended September 30, 2024. The decrease was primarily attributable to changes in our membership program
offerings aimed at attracting and retaining higher spending, more frequent flyers. Membership Funds are generally non-refundable cash deposits that are
accounted for as Deferred revenue until the time at which they are used by members or customers in accordance with the terms applicable to such Membership
Fund.

Cash Flow from Investing Activities

The cash inflow from investing activities during the nine months ended September 30, 2025 was primarily attributable to $84.4 million in proceeds from
sales of aircraft that were classified as held for sale and $20.7 million in proceeds from the sale of the Non-Core Services Businesses. The cash inflows were
partially offset by cash outflows of $62.9 million for capital expenditures, including $50.0 million related to fleet modernization and $9.1 million of capitalized
software development costs.

Cash Flow from Financing Activities

The cash inflow from financing activities was primarily attributable to the issuance and sale of shares of Common Stock under the ATM Program for
approximately $47.6 million in aggregate net proceeds after deducting sales commissions and the issuance of new Revolving Equipment Notes for four aircraft
in the aggregate principal amount of $33.9 million, partially offset by prepayments of long-term debt of $69.0 million.
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Future Obligations and Commitments

As of September 30, 2025, our principal ongoing commitments consisted of contractual cash obligations to pay principal and interest payments under the
Revolving Equipment Notes, principal and accrued interest under the Credit Agreement when due at maturity (including any amounts in respect of the Credit
Support Premium), operating leases for certain controlled aircraft, leased facilities, including our corporate headquarters, other office space and operational
facilities, such as hangars and maintenance facilities, trade payables and ordinary course arrangements involving our obligation to provide future services for
which we have already received deferred revenue. For further information about the foregoing obligations and commitments, see the following Notes to
Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements included in Part I, Item 1 “Financial Statements” in this Quarterly Report: Note 2, Revenue; Note 7, Long-Term
Debt; and Note 9, Leases. In addition, the $10.0 million Share Repurchase Program gives management the discretion to purchase shares of Common Stock
from time to time, and any open order or executory contract to acquire shares of Common Stock in the future would constitute a cash contractual commitment
by the Company to the extent it is not cancelled prior to trade execution.

To execute our fleet modernization strategy, we will need to, among other things, continue to strategically acquire aircraft, which may include purchasing
or leasing aircraft, acquiring other private aviation operators or entering into alternative financing structures, and sell current owned aircraft and return certain
current leased aircraft. This strategy is expected to be capital intensive and will require significant internal and external resources over the multi-year transition
period. As of the date of this Quarterly Report, we expect that we will fund any obligations or commitments in connection with our fleet modernization strategy
using cash and cash equivalents, including cash received from any sales of our owned aircraft, operating cash flows, available borrowings under the Revolving
Equipment Notes Facility, and the execution of strategic transactions in the future, such as potential acquisitions of private aviation operators, strategic leasing
arrangements or additional debt or equity financings. See “Our Fleet Modernization Strategy & Progress Update” above and the caption titled “We may be
unable to execute our fleet modernization strategy on the timeline that we currently anticipate or may fail to realize the expected benefits from such strategy,
which may adversely impact our business, prospects, operations, results of operations and financial condition” in Part I, Item 1A “Risk Factors” in our Annual
Report for more information about our fleet modernization strategy.
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Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

As of September 30, 2025, we were not a party to any off-balance sheet arrangements (as defined in Regulation S-K) that have or are reasonably likely to
have a current or future material effect on our financial condition, results of operations or cash flows.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

For further information about our critical accounting policies and estimates, and recent accounting pronouncements, see Note 1, Summary of Business and
Significant Accounting Policies of the Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements included in Part  I, Item  1 “Financial Statements” in this
Quarterly Report and the caption titled “Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates” in Part II, Item 7 “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Conditions and Results of Operations” included in our Annual Report, as applicable. There have not been any material changes to our significant and critical
accounting policies and estimates since the filing of our Annual Report.

ITEM 3. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

In the ordinary course of operating our business, we are exposed to market risks. Market risk represents the risk of loss that may impact our financial
position or results of operations due to adverse changes in financial market prices and rates. Our principal market risks relate to interest rates, aircraft fuel and
foreign currency exchange. There have not been any material changes to the market risks described in Part II, Item 7A “Quantitative and Qualitative
Disclosures About Market Risk” included in our Annual Report.
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ITEM 4. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

We maintain disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rule 13a-15(e) and Rule 15d-15(e) of the Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the
“Exchange Act”)), that are designed to provide reasonable assurance that information required to be disclosed in our Exchange Act reports is recorded,
processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the SEC’s rules and forms and that such information is accumulated and
communicated to our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, to allow for timely decisions regarding required
disclosure. It should be noted that, because of inherent limitations, our disclosure controls and procedures, however well designed and operated, can provide
only reasonable, and not absolute, assurance that the objectives of the disclosure controls and procedures are met.

As required by Rule 13a-15(b) under the Exchange Act, our management, with the participation of our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial
Officer, evaluated the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures as of the period covered by this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q. Based upon that
evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer have concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures were not effective as of
September 30, 2025 due to the on-going remediation efforts associated with the material weaknesses in internal control over financial reporting described in
Part II, Item 9A “Controls and Procedures” in our Annual Report and the need for impacted controls to operate for a sufficient period of time and for
management to conclude, through testing, that the controls are designed and operating effectively.

Notwithstanding the pending remediation efforts described below, based on additional analysis and other post-closing procedures performed, management
believes that the financial statements included in this report present fairly, in all material respects, our financial position, results of operations and cash flows
for the periods presented in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.

Remediation Plans to Address Material Weaknesses

To date, we have implemented certain measures to address the controls and procedures deficiencies identified in Part II, Item 9A of our Annual Report.

Since the date of our Annual Report, we have executed on the following remediation actions:

• redesigned access administration procedures to include steps to ensure retention of documentation supporting requests and approvals;

• enhanced user access review procedures to ensure timely reviews of elevated access, removal of terminated users and appropriateness of user roles;

• reviewed elevated access entitlements in the systems supporting our financial processes and have further restricted access or developed compensating
controls;

• redesigned change management procedures to ensure effective monitoring controls and retention of documentation supporting requests and approvals;

• developed and implemented change management monitoring controls for key information used in the preparation of our financial statements; and

• engaged external advisors to assist with evaluating and documenting the design and operating effectiveness of our IT general controls.

Our remediation plan currently includes additional actions that management intends to undertake during the year ending December 31, 2025:

55



• enhancing training programs addressing IT general controls and policies, including educating control owners concerning the principles and
requirements of each control;

• increasing the frequency of testing to monitor IT general controls with a specific focus on systems supporting our financial reporting processes; and

• hiring additional personnel with relevant compliance expertise to support the ongoing design and maintenance of effective IT general controls.

We are working aggressively and prioritizing the above actions to complete our remediation plan before December 31, 2025. We believe that these actions,
when fully implemented, will remediate the deficiencies identified in Part  II, Item 9A of our Annual Report. Those deficiencies will not be considered
remediated until the applicable controls operate for a sufficient period of time and management has concluded, through testing, that the applicable controls are
designed and operating effectively. As we continue to evaluate and improve the applicable controls, management may take additional remedial measures or
modify the remediation plan described above.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

Except for the items referred to above, there were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting identified in connection with the evaluation
required by Rule 13a-15(d) and 15d-15(d) of the Exchange Act that occurred during the three months ended September 30, 2025 that have materially affected,
or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal controls over financial reporting.

Inherent Limitation on the Effectiveness of Internal Control over Financial Reporting and Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, does not expect that our disclosure controls and procedures or our
internal control over financial reporting will prevent all errors and all fraud. A control system, no matter how well designed and operated, can provide only
reasonable, not absolute, assurance that the objectives of the control system are met. Further, the design of a control system must reflect the fact that there are
resource constraints, and the benefits of controls must be considered relative to their costs. Because of the inherent limitations in all control systems, no
evaluation of controls can provide absolute assurance that all control issues and instances of fraud, if any, have been detected. These inherent limitations
include the realities that judgments in decision-making can be faulty, and that breakdowns can occur because of a simple error or mistake. Additionally,
controls can be circumvented by the individual acts of some persons, by collusion of two or more people or by management override of the controls. The
design of any system of controls is also based in part upon certain assumptions about the likelihood of future events, and there can be no assurance that any
design will succeed in achieving its stated goals under all potential future conditions; over time, controls may become inadequate because of changes in
conditions, or the degree of compliance with policies or procedures may deteriorate. Because of the inherent limitations in a cost-effective control system,
misstatements due to error or fraud may occur and not be detected or preventable.
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PART II. OTHER INFORMATION

ITEM 1. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

From time to time, we are subject to various legal proceedings and claims, either asserted or unasserted, which arise in the ordinary course of business. The
outcome of these matters cannot be predicted with certainty. See Note 13, Commitments and Contingencies of the Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial
Statements in Part  I, Item  1 “Financial Statements” in this Quarterly Report for a discussion of loss contingencies, if any. Below is a discussion of the
Company’s significant pending legal proceedings:

GRP Litigation

On July 5, 2023, we filed a lawsuit against Exclusive Jets, LLC d/b/a flyExclusive, a subsidiary of flyExclusive, Inc. (“FE”), in the United States District
Court for the Southern District of New York (“NY Federal Court”), which was re-filed against FE in the Supreme Court of the State of New York in New York
County (“NY State Court”) on August 23, 2023. We instituted the action to enforce our rights and remedies for wrongful termination by FE of the Fleet
Guaranteed Revenue Program Agreement, dated November 1, 2021, between WUP and FE (the “GRP Agreement”). On June 30, 2023, FE notified us in
writing of its immediate termination of the GRP Agreement. We believe that FE wrongfully terminated such agreement in breach thereof. We are seeking
compensatory damages, including the return of material deposits held by FE under the GRP Agreement (collectively, the “GRP Deposit”) that were recorded in
Other non-current assets on the condensed consolidated balance sheets as of September 30, 2025 and December 31, 2024, as well as attorneys’ fees and costs.

Following remand to the NY State Court after removal to the NY Federal Court by FE, on April 9, 2025, FE filed in the NY State Court an answer and its
defenses to the Company’s claims, as well as counterclaims for amounts it claims it is owed under the GRP Agreement. On July 23, 2025, the Company filed a
motion to amend and proposed amended complaint against FE in NY State Court (the “Amended Complaint”), which included, among other things, additional
breach of contract claims and added Thomas James Segrave Jr., FE’s founder and Chief Executive Officer, as a defendant for a claim based on piercing the
corporate veil. On September 9, 2025, FE and Mr. Segrave filed their answer and affirmative defenses to the Company’s Amended Complaint, FE reasserted
counterclaims for amounts it claims it is owed under the GRP Agreement, and FE filed a motion to dismiss on jurisdictional grounds, to which the Company
filed its answer, defenses and opposition on October 22, 2025. The parties are actively engaged in the discovery process.

We intend to vigorously pursue the action to recover the outstanding deposits and other damages from FE and defend against any related counterclaims,
but there can be no assurance as to the outcome of the dispute with FE. Our success in recovering the amounts from FE will depend on several factors,
including the availability of funds by FE for the recoverable amounts, in light of the following:

• In its Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2023 filed with the SEC on May 1, 2024, FE disclosed that upon termination of
the GRP Agreement, it applied a portion of the GRP Deposit against certain receivable balances that FE claims it was owed under the GRP Agreement.
As a result, the GRP  Deposit liability owed to the Company that was formerly reflected in FE’s financial statements was fully eliminated as of
June 30, 2023 and the remainder of the GRP Deposit continues to be withheld from Wheels Up.

• In its Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the three months ended June 30, 2025 filed with the SEC on August 13, 2025, FE disclosed: (i) a net loss of
$16.1 million for the three months ended June 30, 2025 and that it “expects to incur operating losses in the near term as [FE] advances its fleet
modernization and associated cost savings initiatives”; (ii) net cash flows used in operating activities of $10.1 million during the three months ended
June 30, 2025; (iii) that as of June 30, 2025, it had cash and cash equivalents of $15.8 million (versus $31.7 million as of December 31, 2024), nil in
investments in securities (versus $65.5  million as of December 31, 2024) and available borrowing capacity of $12.2 million under existing debt
facilities, against a working capital deficit of $194.6 million (versus $150.8 million as of December 31, 2024); and (iv) as of August 13, 2025, cash
and cash equivalents on hand, operating cash flows and proceeds from its fractional program will be sufficient to fund FE’s operations, including
capital
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expenditure requirements, for at least 12 months, but it might need additional capital to fund growth plans or as circumstances change, which it
disclosed it could obtain through equity issuances, refinancing existing debt or new borrowings, and if FE is not able to raise capital, its business,
prospects, operating results and financial condition could be negatively impacted.

We are in the process of evaluating the effects of the foregoing events and we cannot make a reasonable estimate of any outcome, recovery or loss at this
time. See the caption titled “Some of our business is dependent on our third-party operators to provide flights for our members and customers. If such third-
party operators do not perform adequately or terminate their relationships with us, our costs may increase and our business, operations, liquidity, financial
condition, and results of operations could be adversely affected” in Part I, Item 1A “Risk Factors” in our Annual Report for further information.

ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

In addition to the risks set forth below and the information set forth in this Quarterly Report, you should carefully consider the disclosures included in Part
I, Item 1A “Risk Factors” in our Annual Report. You should be aware that these risk factors and other information may not describe every risk facing Wheels
Up. Our business is subject to numerous risks and uncertainties that represent challenges that we face in connection with our go-forward strategy and growth
plans. Additional risks and uncertainties not currently known to us or that we currently deem to be insignificant could adversely affect our business, prospects,
results of operations and financial condition. All defined terms used in the following risk factor are defined in our Annual Report.

The price of our Common Stock and Warrants may be volatile.

The price per share of our Common Stock, as well as for the Warrants, may fluctuate due to a variety of factors within and outside of our control,
including: (i) changes in the private aviation industry and general demand for travel services; (ii) changes in general market conditions and macro-economic
conditions, including the price of aircraft fuel; (iii) developments involving our competitors, such as material announcements or new offerings and services;
(iv) changes in applicable laws and regulations affecting our business and operations; (v) variations in our operating performance and the performance of our
competitors in general; (vi)  changes in our levels of liquidity and indebtedness, other contractual obligations or credit ratings and the terms or covenants
associated with our indebtedness or contractual obligations; (vii) actual or anticipated fluctuations in our quarterly or annual operating results and the public’s
reaction to our press releases, our other public announcements and our filings with the SEC; (viii) publication of research reports by securities analysts about us
or our competitors or our industry or the cessation of such coverage; (ix) actions by stockholders, including sales by stockholders of any of their shares of our
Common Stock; (x) increases or decreases in reported holdings by insiders or significant stockholders, including shares of Common Stock held by our Lenders;
(xi) the issuance and sale of shares of our Common Stock or securities exercisable for or convertible or exchangeable into shares of Common Stock, including
under the Company’s ATM Program; (xii) the timing and magnitude of repurchases of shares of Common Stock by the Company under any stock repurchase
program approved by the Board; (xiii) fluctuations in trading volume and the volume of shares of our Common Stock available for public sale, including upon
expiration or extension of lock-ups or other restrictions on trading shares of Common Stock applicable to certain stockholders; (xiv) additions and departures of
key personnel; (xv) commencement of, involvement in, or the outcome of, litigation or disputes involving us; (xvi) changes in our capital structure, such as
future issuances of equity securities or the incurrence of debt and grants of equity awards under our equity incentive plans; and (xvii) general economic and
political conditions, such as the effects of recessions, changes in inflation and interest rates, taxes, tariffs and trade policies, government shutdowns or funding
changes, the results of local and national elections, fluctuations in fuel prices and international currency rates, and the impact of corruption, political instability
and acts of war or terrorism.
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ITEM 2. UNREGISTERED SALES OF EQUITY SECURITIES AND USE OF PROCEEDS

Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities for the Three Months Ended September 30, 2025

The table below sets forth information regarding purchases of our Common Stock during the three months ended September 30, 2025:

Period
Total Number of

Shares Purchased
Average Price Paid

Per Share

Total number of Shares
Purchased as Part of

Publicly Announced Plans
or Programs

Maximum Number (or
Approximate Dollar Value)
of Shares that may yet be

Purchased under the Plans
or Programs

July 1, 2025 through July 31, 2025 341,166  $ 1.09  341,166  $ 9,372,705 
August 1, 2025 through August 31, 2025 15,405  3.00  —  $ — 
September 1, 2025 through September 30, 2025 100,237  2.21  —  $ — 
For the three months ended September 30, 2025 456,808  $ 2.32  341,166  $ 9,372,705 

_________________
(1) The total number of shares purchased during three months ended September 30, 2025 includes shares of Common Stock (i) withheld for payment of tax liability arising from the vesting of

restricted stock units for certain officers and (ii) repurchased under the Share Repurchase Program (as defined below).
(2) On April 30, 2025, the Board approved a $10.0 million share repurchase program (the “Share Repurchase Program”) under which the Company may repurchase shares of Common Stock from

time to time at management's discretion using a variety of methods, including open market purchases or privately negotiated transactions. The Share Repurchase Program has no expiration date,
but may be suspended or discontinued at any time in the Board’s discretion.

(3) Excludes excise tax on share repurchases in excess of issuances, which is recognized as part of the cost basis of the shares of Common Stock repurchased as reflected in the condensed
consolidated statements of equity.

ITEM 3. DEFAULTS UPON SENIOR SECURITIES

None.

ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES

Not applicable.

ITEM 5. OTHER INFORMATION

(a)    None.

(b)    None.

(c)    During the three months ended September 30, 2025, no director or officer of the Company adopted, modified or terminated a Rule 10b5-1 trading
arrangement or a non-Rule 10b5-1 trading arrangement, as each term is defined under Item 408(a) of Regulation S-K.

(1) (2) (2)(3)
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ITEM 6. EXHIBITS

The following exhibits are filed as part of, or incorporated by reference into, this Quarterly Report.

No. Description of Exhibit
3.1 Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Wheels Up Experience Inc., filed on November 15, 2023 (incorporated by

reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed with the SEC on November 16, 2023)
3.2 Amended and Restated By-Laws of Wheels Up Experience Inc., effective as of November 15, 2023 (incorporated by reference to

Exhibit 3.2 to the Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K, filed with the SEC on March 7, 2024)
10.1 ATM Equity Offering  Sales Agreement, dated August 29, 2025, by and among Wheels Up Experience Inc. and each of BofA

Securities, Inc. and Jefferies LLC (each as sales agent) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant’s Current
Report on Form 8-K, filed with the SEC on August 29, 2025)

10.2 Amendment No. 3 to Investment and Investor Rights Agreement, dated September 21, 2025, by and among Wheels Up Experience
Inc. and the Investors listed on the signature pages thereto (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant’s Current
Report on Form 8-K, filed with the SEC on September 22, 2025)

31.1* Certification of the Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
31.2* Certification of the Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
32.1** Certification of the Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
32.2** Certification of the Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
101.INS XBRL Instance Document - the instance document does not appear in the Interactive Data File because its XBRL tags are

embedded within the Inline XBRL document
101.SCH XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document
101.CAL XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document
101.DEF XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document
101.LAB XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document
101.PRE XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document
104 Cover Page Interactive Data File - The cover page interactive data file does not appear in the Interactive Data File because its

XBRL tags are embedded within the Inline XBRL document

* Filed herewith.
** Furnished herewith.

SM
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this Quarterly Report to be signed on its behalf by the
undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

WHEELS UP EXPERIENCE INC.

Date: November 5, 2025 /s/ George Mattson
Name: George Mattson
Title: Chief Executive Officer

(Principal Executive Officer)

Date: November 5, 2025 /s/ Alex Chatkewitz
Name: Alex Chatkewitz
Title: Chief Accounting Officer

(Principal Accounting Officer)
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Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
PURSUANT TO RULE 13A-14(A) UNDER THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, George Mattson, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this Quarterly Report of Wheels Up Experience Inc. on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended September 30, 2025;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) for the registrant and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-
15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to
ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those
entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent
fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to
materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting.

Date: November 5, 2025 By: /s/ George Mattson
Name: George Mattson
Title: Chief Executive Officer
            (Principal Executive Officer)



Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
PURSUANT TO RULE 13A-14(A) UNDER THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, John Verkamp, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this Quarterly Report of Wheels Up Experience Inc. on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended September 30, 2025;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) for the registrant and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-
15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to
ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those
entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent
fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to
materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting.

Date: November 5, 2025 By: /s/ John Verkamp
Name: John Verkamp
Title: Chief Financial Officer
            (Principal Financial Officer)



Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO

SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Quarterly Report of Wheels Up Experience Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended September 30, 2025, as
filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the “Report”), I, George Mattson, Chief Executive Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C.
§1350, as adopted pursuant to §906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:

1.    The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

2.    To my knowledge, the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations
of the Company as of and for the period covered by the Report.

Date: November 5, 2025 By: /s/ George Mattson
Name: George Mattson
Title: Chief Executive Officer
            (Principal Executive Officer)



Exhibit 32.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO

SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Quarterly Report of Wheels Up Experience Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended September 30, 2025, as
filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the “Report”), I, John Verkamp, Chief Financial Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C.
§1350, as adopted pursuant to §906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:

1.    The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

2.    To my knowledge, the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations
of the Company as of and for the period covered by the Report.

Date: November 5, 2025 By: /s/ John Verkamp
Name: John Verkamp
Title: Chief Financial Officer
            (Principal Financial Officer)


